COURSE **GUIDE LED 712** PUBLIC INTERNATIONAL LAW II **Course Team** Dr. Ernest O. Ugbejeh (DEAN) Mr. Nduka C. Njoku and Mrs. Grace Dallong Opadotun (Course Reviewers/Lecturers) Mr. Victor Ologuntoye (Copy Editor)- NOUN **ADAPTED FROM:** Commonwealth of Learning NIUN NATIONAL OPEN UNIVERSITY OF NIGERIA

© 2022 by NOUN Press National Open University of Nigeria Headquarters University Village Plot 91, Cadastral Zone Nnamdi Azikiwe Expressway Jabi, Abuja

Lagos Office 14/16 Ahmadu Bello Way Victoria Island, Lagos

e-mail: centralinfo@nou.edu.ng URL: <u>www.nou.edu.ng</u>

Printed 2022

ISBN: 978-978-058-460-3

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, in any form or by any means, without permission in writing from the publisher.

CONTENTS

PAGE

Introduction	iv
Learning the course	iv
Working through this Course	v
Course Materials	v
Study Units	v
Textbooks and References	vi
Assessment	viii
Tutor-Marked Assignment	viii
Final Examination and Grading	ix
Course Marking Scheme	ix
Course Overview/Presentation Schedule	ix
How to Get the Most from this Course	Х
Facilitators/Tutors and Tutorials	xi
Summary	xii

INTRODUCTION

This Course Guide is intended to help you study public international law. Public international law was once almost entirely concerned with the regulation of the relations between nations. Particularly since the Second World War, however, it has become increasingly concerned with the rights and obligations of individuals beyond the jurisdiction of the state within which they live. But because it is public international law we will not be concerned with matters of private international law. Thus international commercial disputes and international disputes between individuals will be beyond our focus unless a state or its government is an interested party. For the sake of convenience "international law" will be used as an abbreviation for public international law in this Course Guide.

Each unit of this Course Guide will isolate a topic within international law and will indicate to you its most significant features, will provide a brief overview of the relevant law; and will direct you to essential reading with suggestions for further reading. Obviously, all the topics interrelate, and links will be suggested to other units. Within each Module you will find exercises and activities which will enable you to monitor your progress and gain confidence in your comprehension. In addition each unit contains Self-Assessment Exercises and appropriate answers.

The most attractive feature of studying international law is that it is always topical. It is relevant to all of the major international events of the day whether they be concerned with the international use of force; the activities of such international organisations as the United Nations, the World Bank or the International Monetary Fund; conflict in the Middle East or elsewhere; the international alleviation of poverty and illness; the regulation of the exploitation of the seabed (including the extraction of oil); global warming; or the possession and use of nuclear weapons. Clearly not all these topics can be considered in this course, but those that make an appearance would have been chosen because they should enable you to understand and explore the possibilities and limitations of international law in resolving (or pre-empting) disputes which may arise. The units will make suggestions concerning the relevance of the topics to contemporary issues.

LEARNING OUTCOMES

At the end of this Course, you should be able to:

- explain the issue of self-determination and territory in international law
- discuss the peaceful settlement of disputes in international law

- discuss the use of force in international law
- explain human rights in international law
- describe the relationship between international law and power.

WORKING THROUGH THIS COURSE

To complete this course, you are advised to read the study units, read recommended books and other materials provided by NOUN. Each unit contains Self-Assessment Exercises, and at points in the course you are required to submit assignments for assessment purposes. At the end of the course, there is a final examination. The course should take youabout 15 weeks to complete. You will find all the components of the course listed below. You need to allocate your time to each unit in order to complete the course successfully and on time.

COURSE MATERIALS

The major components of the course are:

- 1. The Course Guide
- 2. Study units
- 3. Textbooks
- 4. Assignment File
- 5. Presentation schedule

STUDY UNITS

We deal with this course in 12 study units

Unit 1 Unit 2	The Concept of Self-determination in International Law The United Nations Charter, Self-determination and Decolonisation
Unit 3	Self-determination after the Cold War
Unit 4	Ethnic Nationals in Nigeria and the RighttoSelf-
	determination
Unit 5	States, Territory and Recognition
Unit 6	The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes in International Law
Unit 7	The Contentious Jurisdiction of the ICJ Exemplified
	by Nicaragua V. USA
Unit 8	The Advisory Jurisdiction of the ICJ and International
	Arbitration
Unit 9	Use of Force in International
	Law
Unit 10	Human Rights in International Law
Unit 11	The International Bill of Human Rights

Unit 12 Principal International Human Rights Treaties

There is no one way to study international law. There is however considerable consensus about the topics that are central for an understanding of international law. A plethora of modem textbooks has appeared recently and as a generalisation they may be divided between those that are rule focused and those which are context focused. The former seem to regard international law as a "pure" subject in the sense that it is seemingly sensible to study the rules in isolation from events. For various reasons this approach is rejected in this course guide, primarily because it is a very dull way of learning. It also has the effect of disguising the politics which always underlie international law. You will be required to read material which will always emphasise thisaspect. Much of the information you will be given is about events to which international law is applicable, rather than simply about the rules themselves.

Each study unit consists of one week's work and includes specific objectives, directions for study, reading material and Self-Assessment Exercises (SAEs). Together with Tutor-Marked Assignments, these exercises will assist you in achieving the stated learning objectives of the individual units and of the course.

This Course Guide takes you through the international law course in a structured and systematic way. Each unit covers a particular topic or group of topics. The order is loosely based upon the three primary textbooks listed below, but because we are also concerned with contemporary issues in international law there is no total correlation.

TEXTBOOKS AND REFERENCES

Certain books have been recommended in the course. You should read them where you are so directed.

PRIMARY TEXTBOOKS

Dixon, M. (2005). *Textbook on International Law* (5th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199260729].

Cassese, A. (2005).*International Law* (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199259399].

Kaczorowska, A. (2005). *Public International Law*.(3rd ed).London: Old Bailey Press [ISBN 1858366070].

These texts will be referred to in an abbreviated form, for example: 1.

Dixon, Chapter 2: "The sources of International Law", pp.xx-xx.

These books are very different in their approach but are complementary in their content. The most "legal" is Kaczorowska and the Course Guide usually relies on you to have read at least this. It is very "user-friendly" and clears with a lot of interesting contexts". Dixon often raises academic questions in a helpful and comprehensible form. Cassese is the least orthodox, but in its own terms very interesting with an approach that might be described as "continental". His categories and themes do not always fit easily with more orthodox approaches but he is a stimulating author.

Supplementary Texts

Evans, M. (2003). *International Law*. Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199251142].

Cassese, A. (1986). *International Law in a Divided World*. Oxford: Clarendon [ISBN 0198761945].

Brownlie, I. (2003). *Principles of Public International Law* (6th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199260710].

Van Dervort, T. (1998). *International Law and Organisation*. ThousandOaks, CA: Sage [ISBN 0761901892]. Shearer, I. (1994). *Starke's International Law* (11thed.) (New EditionExpected Soon). London: Butterworths [ISBN 0406016232].

Documents

Evans, M. (2005). *Blackstone 5 International Law Documents* (7th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199283125].

Reports and Journals

There are large numbers of these but you should occasionally consult (if possible) any of the following:

- European Journal of International Law (EJIL)
- International and Comparative Law Quarterly (ICLQ)
- American Journal of International Law (AJIL).

Electronic Resources

A vast amount of international law material is available on the web. A very useful portal is LAWLINKS which is organised by the University of Kent Law Librarian. It is to be found at: http://library.kent.ac.uk/library/lawlinks/

Useful web sites

United Nations Homepage - http://www.un.org

International Law Commission (ILC) http://www.un.org/law/ilc/index.htm

International Court of Justice (ICJ) http://wwwicj-cij.org European Union (EU) -<u>http://www.europa.eu.int/index-en.htm</u> The African Union (AU) - http://www.africa-union.org

International Court of Justice (ICJ) - http://www.icj-cij.org For current declarations of states recognising the compulsory jurisdiction of the ICJ, see UN Treaties Collection (http://www.untreaty.un.org), Multilateral Treaties, Chapter 1 (4).

International Criminal Court - http://www.icccpi.int/home.htmlAmnesty International http://www.amnesty.org

University of Minnesota Human Rights Library is at: - http://wwwl.umn.edu/humanrts/

A fantastic human rights website which includes the full text of treaties,UN docs, regional docs, US docs, asylum/refugee docs, etc.

For Africa, see the joint project of Minnesota and Makerere Universityat http://wwwl.umn.edu/humanrts/africa/index.html.

ASSESSMENT

There are two aspects of the assessment of this course; the Tutor-Marked Assignments and a written examination. In doing these assignments, you are expected to apply knowledge must have acquired from the Course. The assignments must be submitted to your tutor for formal assessment in accordance with the deadlines stated in the presentation schedule and the assignment file. The work you submit to your tutor for assessment will count for 15% and the report of your attachment will count for 15% making it 30% of your total score.

TUTOR-MARKED ASSIGNMENT (TMA)

There is a Tutor-Marked Assignment at the end of every unit. You are required to attempt all the 3 assignments. You will be assessed on all of them and will be used for assessment. The assignments carry 5% each.

FINAL EXAMINATION AND GRADING

The duration of the final examination for LED 712-Public International Law II is three hours and will carry 70% of the total course grade. The examination will consist of questions, which reflect the kinds of Self-Assessment Exercises and the Tutor- Marked Assignment you have previously encountered. All aspects of the course will be assessed. You should use the time between completing the last unit, and taking the examination to revise the entire course. You may find it useful to review your Self-Assessment Exercises and Tutor-Marked Assignments before the examination.

COURSE SCORE DISTRIBUTION

The following table lays out how the actual course marking is broken down.

Assessment	Marks
Assignments	15% (5% for each)
Attachment	15%
	Totaling 30%
Final examination	70% of overall course score
Total	100% of course score

Table 1.1

COURSE OVERVIEW AND PRESENTATION SCHEDULE

Table 1.2

Unit	Title of work	Weeks	Self-Assessment
		Activity	Exercise
	Course Guide	1	
Module	The concept of self-	1	
1	determination in		Self-Assessment
Unit	international law		Exercise 1
1			

	The United Nations Charter	1	[
2	The United Nations Charter,	1	Calf Assessment
2	Self-determination and		Self-Assessment
-	Decolonisation		Exercise 2
3	Self-determination after the	1	Self-Assessment
	Cold War		Exercise 3
4	Ethnic Nationals in Nigeria	1	
	and the Right to Self-		Self-Assessment
	determination		Exercise 4
5	States, Territory and	1	Self-Assessment
	Recognition		Exercise 5
Module	The Peaceful Settlement of	1	
2	Disputes in International		Self-Assessment
Unit	Law		Exercise 6
1			
_	The Contentious	1	
2	Jurisdiction of the ICJ	-	Self-Assessment
_	Exemplified by		Exercise 7
	Nicaragua V. USA		Encicide /
3	The Advisory Jurisdiction	1	Self-Assessment
5	of the ICJ and International	1	Exercise 8
	Arbitration		Encicine 6
4	Use of Force in International	1	Self-Assessment
т	Law	1	Exercise 9
			LACICISC /
Module		1	Self-Assessment
3	The Charter of the United	1	Exercise 10
Unit	Nations		Excicise 10
1	1 utions		
2	Self-defence in	1	Self-Assessment
	International Law	1	Exercise 11
2		1	
3	Humanitarian Intervention	1	Self-Assessment
	Descision	1	Exercise 12
	Revision	1	
	Examination	1	
	Total	15	

HOW TO GET THE MOST FROM THIS COURSE

In distance learning, the study units replace the lecturer. The advantage is that you can read and work through the study materials at your pace, and at a time and place that suits you best. Think of it as reading the lecture instead of listening to a lecturer. Just as a lecturer might give you in-class exercise, your study units provide exercises for you to do at appropriate times. You should begin your studies with this Course Guide. The sequence of units has been carefully chosen and you will find it easiest to follow the order provided and reading the recommended textbook pages for each unit as you proceed. The course should develop both in a linear way and in a spiral way in that all the units are interrelated even if the relationship is initially difficult to perceive. Frequently in the subsequentunits you will find references to units you have already completed and some you have yet to reach. This is inevitable because of the nature of international law. Although the course is divided into modules, they are not truly discrete and everything affects, and is affected by, the other modules.

Each of the study units follows the same format. The first item is an introduction to the subject matter of the unit and how a particular unit is integrated with other units and the course as a whole. Next is a set of learning objectives. These objectives let you know what you should be able to do by the time you have completed the unit. You should use these objectives to guide your study. When you have finished the unit, you should go back and check whether you have achieved the objectives. If you make a habit of doing this, you will significantly improve your chances of passing the course.

Self-Assessment Exercises are interspersed throughout the units. Working through these tests will help you to achieve the objectives of the unit and prepare you for the assignments and the examination. You should do each Self-Assessment Exercise as you come to it in the study unit. There will be examples given in the study units. Work through these when you have come to them.

TUTORS AND TUTORIALS

There are 15 hours of tutorials provided in support of this course. You will be notified of the dates, times and location of these tutorials, together with the name and phone number of your tutor, as soon as you are allocated a tutorial group.

Your tutor will mark and comment on your assignments, keep a close watch on your progress, and on any difficulties you might encounter and provide assistance to you during the course. You must send your Tutor Marked Assignments to your tutor well before the due date. They will be marked by your tutor and returned to you as soon as possible.

Do not hesitate to contact your tutor by telephone or e-mail if you need help. Contact your tutor if:

1. You do not understand any part of the study units or the assigned readings;

2. You have difficulty with the self-assessment exercises;

3. You have a question or a problem with a Self-Assessment, with your tutor's comments on a self-assessment exercise or with the grading of a self-assessment exercise.

You should try your best to attend the tutorials. This is the only chance to have face-to-face contact with your tutor and ask questions which are answered instantly. You can raise any problem you encounter in the course of your study. To gain the maximum benefit from course tutorials, prepare a question list before attending them. You will gain alot from participating actively.

SUMMARY

This contains foundation material which we consider should be studied as a preliminary to understanding Public International Law. This Course contains rather more descriptive material than most of the subsequent ones. It gives an account of what is entailed in legislative drafting in Commonwealth systems, particularly in Nigeria, in order to provide a context for your future work on this Course. While the course is intended to provide an understanding of the role andfunction of international law, several themes permeate the entire content.

We wish you success with the Course and hope that you will find it both interesting and useful.

MAIN COURSE

CONTENTS

Module 1		1
Unit 1	The Concept of Self-determination in International	
11		1
Unit 2	The United Nations Charter, Self-determination and Decolonisation	10
Unit 3	Self-determination after the Cold War	10 22
Unit 4	Ethnic Nationals in Nigeria and the Right toSelf-	
	determination	29
Unit 5	States, Territory and Recognition	39
Module 2		50
Unit 1	The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes in International	
		50
Unit 2	The Contentious Jurisdiction of the ICJ Exemplified by Nicaragua V.USA	d 60
Unit 3	The Advisory Jurisdiction of the ICJ and International	
	Arbitration	68
Module 3		78
Unit 1	Human Rights in International Law	78
Unit 2	The International Bill of Human Rights	91
Unit 3	Principal International Human Rights Treaties	100
1		

MODULE 1

The Concept of Self-Determination in International Law
The United Nations Charter, Self-Determination and
Decolonisation
Self-Determination after the Cold War
Ethnic Nationals in Nigeria and the Right toSelf-
Determination
States, Territory and Recognition

UNIT 1 THE CONCEPT OF SELF DETERMINATION IN INTERNATIONAL LAW

Unit Structure

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 1.3 Before the Creation of the United Nations
 - 1.3.1 The Aaland Islands Case
 - 1.3.2 Decolonisation and the Indian Sub-continent
- 1.4 Summary
- 1.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

1.1 Introduction

What do you understand by the concept of self determination in International Law? In this module you are required to think about the relationship between people and territory as understood in international law. For most of us, most of the time, the concept of identity as a national of a state is common sense and unproblematic. We simply know and accept that we are Pakistani, Singaporean Chinese, Nigerian or whatever.

Particularly in Europe few people question their national identity even if they recognise that they are, in addition to being French, Polish or whatever, European by residence, regardless of ethnicity. Obviously in theory and in some cases in fact, individuals may have more than one national identity, but what is significant for us is that for most inhabitants of most long established states, the link between identity and state, captured in nationality, is unproblematic. This is not necessarily soin every part of the world. Within Europe the fact that territory, especially at the margins or borders, has belonged to different states at different times over the last century indicates that an easy identification of an individual with a state, as opposed to identification with territory, is not LED 712

always simply common sense.

Beyond Europe in much of the world within existing states, the "natural" identification of person with state often has no great history. Decolonisation brought with it state independence, but of course almost invariably within the pre-existing colonial borders. It was the state that achieved independence rather than the state's inhabitants - an important fact that we will explore later. It is sufficient here to observe that in such states it is not unusual for persons to regard the fact of their nationality as much less significant than ethnic, religious or tribal allegiance.

1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- describe the development of the concept of self-determination as
- a principle of limited application
- explain the tension between sovereignty andself-determination.

1.3 Before the Creation of the United Nations

It is difficult now to imagine a time when the ordinary population was regarded as of no consequence when it came to determining the state to which the territory they inhabited should belong. Yet for much of history this was overwhelmingly the case. The disposition of territorial sovereignty was within the exclusive power of those (or he) who ruled it - often royalty but always aristocrats in the widest sense. Often the sovereignty of territory was disposed of after, or as the result of, war in which territory was conquered, and this was indeed the most common method by which territory was acquired. The wishes of the inhabitants of such territory, even if known, were simply ignored as being utterly irrelevant. These "rules" of territorial acquisition (and accepted as rules in international law) were simply extended to facilitate and legitimate colonisation. States with sufficient power, or by agreement, asserted title over what became colonial possessions and this ownership came to be recognised both in law and in fact by other independent states. Such was the state of international law.

But the seeds of the concept of self-determination were sown even in the earliest days of colonisation, particularly through the medium of the French Revolution as well as the American War of Independence with the latter asserting that rulers were effectively legitimated by the "consent of the governed". Such developments had their origins in renewed interest in the classical heritage and "Athenian democracy", the writings of political philosophers and a heritage (at least in the UK) of a limited role for parliament. All of these militated towards concern for the role of the

populace - or part of it - in government.

That few thought in terms of this consideration extending to colonised peoples reflected a European attitude to race that remained largely unchallenged until the twentieth century, notwithstanding the abolition of slavery. Such an attitude was well expressed in the Treaty of Berlin of 1885, a treaty concerned with the allocation of rights and responsibilities of the European powers (and King Leopold II of Belgium) in Central Africa. Article VI stated:

All the powers exercising sovereign rights or influence in the aforesaid territories bind themselves to watch over the preservation of the native tribes, and to care for the improvement of the conditions of their moral and material well-being, and to help in suppressing slavery, and especially the slave trade. They shall, without distinction of creed or nation, protect and favour all religious, scientific or charitable institutions and undertakings created and organised for the above stated ends, or which aim at instructing the natives and bringing home to them the blessings of civilisation.

Patronising and hypocritical though, such sentiments seem today, paving as they did the way for the famous "3 Cs" -commerce, Christianity and civilisation - they yet, as Pakenham points out, provided a commitment of sorts not to be forgotten by humanitarians.

More immediately the idea of self-determination did play a part in the creation of European nation states in the nineteenth century, and in the First World War it fell to President Wilson of the US to extol its virtues. (In fact it seems that initially his purpose for doing so was, at least in the understanding of his allies, to score propaganda points against an enemy that contained within its empires many disparate minority peoples who wished for self-government. This was thought to be true especially of the Ottoman Empire and the Austro-Hungarian Empire. Within the latter there were, apart from Germans and Hungarians, Poles, Croats, Bosnians, Serbians, Italians, Czechs, Ruthenes, Slovenes, Slovaks and Romanians. Overall, 15 different languages were spoken in the Austro-Hungarian empire.)

In January 1918 in Wilson's address to Congress - the famous Fourteen Points Address -his fifth point stated the need for:

A free, open-minded, and absolutely impartial adjustment of all colonial claims, based upon a strict observance of the principle that in determining all such questions of sovereignty the interests of the populations concerned must have equal weight with the equitable claims of the government whose title is to be determined.

This is significant for two reasons. Firstly, the colonial claims he spoke of did not include the colonies of the victorious allies, and secondly, the principle of self-determination is obviously not absolute but merely one factor of importance.

The conclusion of the First World War brought no right of selfdetermination to colonial peoples and while the maps of Europe and the Middle East were redrawn there was no great consultation with inhabitants. Rather than provide plebiscites or even consultation with such people generally, the Treaty of Versailles only prescribed this process for those living in disputed areas. In other cases minorities were to be protected through "minority treaties" where states were required to enter into agreements to guard and protect minority rights - a process of limited effect.

Colonial peoples were not granted any right of self-determination, but those that were in what were defined as colonies of the defeated states were brought within the "mandate system" whereby territories that were not self-governing were allocated to the victorious powers. This, it was stated, was to provide "tutelage" so that such territories might "advance" to a stage where independence was appropriate.

Article 22 of the League of Nations Covenant stated:

To those colonies and territories which as a consequence of the late war have ceased to be under the sovereignty of the states which formerly governed them and which are inhabited by peoples not yet able to stand by themselves under the strenuous conditions of the modern world, there should be applied the principle that the well-being and development of such peoples form a sacred trust of civilisation and that securities for the performance of this trust should be embodied in this Covenant.

The best method of giving practical effect to this principle is that the tutelage of such peoples should be entrusted to advanced nations who by reason of their resources, their experience or their geographical position can best undertake this responsibility, and who are willing to accept it, and that this tutelage should be exercised by them as Mandatories on behalf of the League.

The character of the mandate must differ according to the stage of the development of the people, the geographical situation of the territory, its economic conditions and other similar circumstances.

Certain communities formerly belonging to the Turkish Empire have reached a stage of development where their existence as independent nations can be provisionally recognised subject to the rendering of administrative advice and assistance by a Mandatory until such time as they are able to stand alone. The wishes of these communities must be a principal consideration in the selection of the Mandatory.

Other peoples, especially those of Central Africa, are at such a stage that the Mandatory must be responsible for the administration of the territory under conditions which will guarantee freedom of conscience and religion, subject only to the maintenance of public order and morals, the prohibition of abuses such as the slave trade, the arms traffic and the liquor traffic, and the prevention of the establishment of fortifications or military and naval bases and of military training of the natives for other than police purposes and the defence of territory, and will also secure equal opportunities for the trade and commerce of other Members of the League.

There are territories, such as South-West Africa and certain of the South Pacific Islands, which, owing to the sparseness of their population, or their small size, or their remoteness from the centres of civilisation, or their geographical contiguity to the territory of the Mandatory, and other circumstances, can be best administered under the laws of theMandatory as integral portions of its territory, subject to the safeguards above mentioned in the interests of the indigenous population.

In every case of mandate, the Mandatory shall render to the Council an annual report in reference to the territory committed to its charge. The degree of authority, control, or administration to be exercised by the Mandatory shall, if not previously agreed upon by the Members of the League, be explicitly defined in each case by the Council. A permanent Commission shall be constituted to receive and examine the annual reports of the Mandatories and to advise the Council on all matters relating to the observance of the mandates.

There were three categories of mandate. The first was for those considered almost ready for independence, all of which did achieve self-government between 1932 and 1947. Such states, with boundaries redrawn without plebiscite, primarily by France and the UK, included Syria and Lebanon (both under French mandate), and Iraq, Trans-Jordan and Palestine (under British mandate). The second category covered German colonies in central Africa. These were considered to be further from possible independence and were allocated to the UK, France or Belgium.

The third category, consisting of territories thought by the Council of the League of Nations to be incapable of independence and self-government in the foreseeable future, included the former German colonies of South West Africa, mandated to South Africa, and Pacific and other colonies in the Southern hemisphere mandated to Japan, Australia and New Zealand. With the exception of South West Africa (now Namibia), all mandated territories of the second and third categories became 'trust territories' under the Charter of the United Nations.

The mandates were important because they provided, probably inadvertently, the basis for the subsequent movement towards decolonisation. If independence was to be the goal for mandated territories it was difficult to argue that it should not also be the goal for colonies of the victors of the First World War.

1.3.1 The Aaland Islands Case

In the aftermath of the creation of the League of Nations a case arose that has continued contemporary significance. It concerned the sovereignty of the Aaland Islands. These islands occupy a site in theGulf of Bothnia in the Baltic Sea, between Finland and Sweden. There isone main island and an archipelago of over 6,000 small islands and skerries (small rocky islands usually too small for habitation). Ninety per cent of the population, which is only 27,000, lives on the main island. The population is overwhelmingly Swedish speaking.

The recent history of the islands is that in 1809 they were ceded by Sweden to Russia and they became a part of the semi-autonomousGrand Duchy of Finland. In 1832 the Russians began to fortify the islands but these fortifications were destroyed by the British and French in 1854 as part of the campaign relating to the Crimean War. In the Finnish Civil War of 1918 Swedish troops briefly intervened as a peacekeeping force but were quickly replaced by German troops on behalf of the Finnish "White" government. The inhabitants of the islands wished for the islands to be returned to Swedish sovereignty. Indeed in a petition it was said that more than 95 per cent of the adult population supported this change. Finland resisted such a cession but didoffer autonomy. The dispute was referred to the Council of the League of Nations for resolution. In essence the question was whether in such circumstances the wishes of the inhabitants of a territory overcame the territorial rights of the sovereign state of which it was a part.

The Swedish government responded to the decision of the Council by stating that in supporting the cause of the people of the Aaland Islands before Europe and the League of Nations, Sweden was not influenced by the desire to increase her territory. She only wished to support noble and just aspirations and to defend the right of an absolutely homogenousisland population to reunite itself to its mother-country, from which it had been detached by force, but to which it is still united by the ties of a common origin, a common history, and a common national spirit. This population has declared to the whole world its unanimous wish not to bebound to a country to which it had been joined by force of arms alone.

The Swedish government had hoped that an institution established to assist in the realisation of right in international relationships would have favoured a solution of the Aaland question in conformity with the principle of self-determination, since, although not recognised as a part of international law, it has received so wide an application in the formation of the New Europe.

The decision itself stated unequivocally as follows:

- 1. The sovereignty of the Aaland Islands is recognised to belong to Finland.
- 2. Nevertheless, the interests of the world, the future of cordial elations between Finland and Sweden, the prosperity and happiness of the Islands themselves cannot be ensured unless
- (a) certain further guarantees are given for the protection of the Islanders; and unless (b) arrangements are concluded for the non-fortification and neutralisation of the Archipelago.
- 3. The new guarantees to be inserted in the autonomy law should specially aim at the preservation of the Swedish language in the schools, at the maintenance of the landed property in the hands of the Islanders, at the restriction, within reasonable limits, of the exercise of the franchise by newcomers, and at ensuring the appointment of a Governor who will possess the confidence of the population.
- 4. The Council has requested that the guarantees will be more likely to achieve their purpose, if they are discussed and agreed to by the Representatives of Finland with those of Sweden, if necessary with the assistance of the Council of the League of Nations, and, in accordance with the Council's desire, the two parties have decided to seek out an agreement. Should their efforts fail, the Council would itself fix the guarantees which, in its opinion, should be inserted, by means of an amendment, in the autonomy law of May, 7th, 1920. In any case, the Council of the League of Nations will see to the enforcement of these guarantees.

In effect, then, the Council of the League elevated existing territorial sovereignty above the wishes of a people even where their physical location and ethnic and linguistic identity were undeniably distinct. Sovereignty originally acquired by force remained sacrosanct. (It is however important to observe that through the good will of the Finnish and Swedish governments the guarantees provided for the autonomous rights of the population have been maintained in an unexceptionable manner.) The decision has been accepted as being of relevance in all contemporary cases attempted or projected secession.

In-Text Question

What is the most significant characteristics of the decolonization process in India?

1.3.2 Decolonisation and the Indian Sub-Continent

One other development before the UN Charter concerning selfdetermination should be remembered. Although the Indian sub-continent did not achieve independence until 1947, its struggle to that end was wellestablished in the 1930s. This movement enjoyed overwhelming support on the sub-continent and not inconsiderable support in the colonial power, the UK. Independence and self-government was theinevitable end and it is clear that the wishes of the people were irresistible.

What is important for the development of self-determination in this example is that it showed that if a people had sufficient power and unity, a colonial state would have no alternative but to grant what was demanded. Here it was less the exercise of a right than an exercise of power that developed into a right after the creation of the UN. Indeed, it might be argued that the concept of self-determination simply channeled the results of the struggle towards independence.

SELF-ASSESSMENT EXERCISE

Can it be argued that the process of self-determination was inadvertently initiated with the mandate system of the League of Nations? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

In conclusion, the early history of the principle of self-determination is

important because it illustrates an accidental historical process. On the one handthe development was not planned nor its significance understood by those responsible for it, but on the other hand it did reflect a change in the power relations in international relations brought about particularly by the First World War. Even so, it should be noted that the international community placed great significance upon sovereignty and there was no suggestion that where sovereignty was settled the wishes of a people or peoples might be able to change this.

1.4 Summary

We have considered the concept of self-determination in international law before the creation of the United Nations. You should now be ableto trace the development of the idea of self-determination as a principle of limited application and recognise the tension between sovereignty and self-determination.

1.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

- Cassese, Chapter 3: *The Fundamental Principles GoverningInternational Relations'* pp.60-68.
- Dixon, Chapter 6: Jurisdiction and Sovereignty, pp.153-55.
 Kaczorowska, Chapter 14: Self-determination of Peoples, pp.333-40.
 Pakenham, T. (1991). The Scramble for Africa. London: Weidenfeld & Nicolson, p.254.

1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

It is difficult to imagine that those who devised the mandate system that was directed towards self-government (even if in the unforeseeable future) foresaw that decolonisation would be an inevitable result. Indeed the colonies of the victorious allies of the First World War were explicitly excluded at this time from international concern. Nevertheless once the principle of progress towards self-government was accepted for some states it was difficult to argue that it should not apply to all.

Perhaps the attempts of European colonial powers to exclude their colonies from UN scrutiny suggested how coercive this argument had become. It should not be forgotten, however, that most of the impetus for independence came from the colonies themselves and not simply in UN discussion. Regardless of whether it was accepted that decolonisation was a right, many colonies would have achieved independence by force.

UNIT 2 THE UNITED NATIONS CHARTER, SELF DETERMINATION AND DECOLONISATION

Unit Structure

- 2.1 Introduction
- 2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 2.3 The Process of Decolonisation
 - 2.3.1 The Principle of uti possidetis
 - 2.3.2 Methods of Self-Determination and Consequences
 - 2.3.3 Economic Self-Determination
- 2.4 Summary
- 2.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 2.6 Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise

2.1 INTRODUCTION

The draft of the UN Charter did not contain any suggestion that the recognised principle of self-determination would ever be conceived of as a right, let alone a human right, and certainly not as a peremptory norm of international law. Nevertheless to some extent this developmentwas foreshadowed by the Atlantic Charter of 1941 when Roosevelt and Churchill stated the reasons why the Second World War was being fought. The second and third principles stated:

Second, they desire to see no territorial changes that do not accord with the freely expressed wishes of the peoples concerned.

Third, they respect the right of all peoples to choose the form of government under which they will live; and they wish to see sovereign rights and self-government restored to those who have been forcibly deprived of them.

Within the Charter the principle of self-determination received acknowledgement, but not as a legal right. Its first mention is as a principle in Article 1 (2) where it is stated that one of the purposes of the UN is 'to develop friendly relations among nations based on the respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples'. There is a similarly oblique reference in Article 55, while Chapter XII which concerns trusteeship territories explicitly requires that action be taken by those states charged with administering trustee territories to promote the welfare of the native inhabitants and to steer them towards selfgovernment. (The trusteeship territories included those previously mandated but not yet independent - except South West Africa - together with dependent territories previously held by the defeated states of the Second World War. All territories in this system had either achieved independence or had chosen otherwise by 1995. South West Africa remained under mandate and became independent in 1990.)

From the earliest days of the UN two issues preoccupied firstly the nonaligned states and secondly newly independent states. These were decolonisation and the apartheid regimes. Much energy was directed at ensuring that these two issues remained at the forefront of all UN concerns. Indeed the reason for the very long delay (18 years) between the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the signing of the International Covenants of Human Rights of 1966 arose from what was seen as persistence to that end on the part of non-aligned and newly independent states, and "bloody-mindedness" by the developed UN states.

2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the significance of the UN Charter in the change from self-determination as a principle to self-determination as a human right
- identify the limitations to this right created by the principle of *utipossidetis*.

2.3 The Process of Decolonisation

While Chapter XII of the Charter dealt with the mandated territories and territories detached from the states defeated in the Second World War, Chapter XI was concerned with other non-self-governing territories which remained outside of the trusteeship system. Chapter XI is entitled "Declaration Regarding Non-Self-Governing Territories" and was intended to provide for colonial matters. As Cassese points out, this was a provision in which the contribution of small and medium-sized countries was important (Cassese, p.319). Article 73 provided as follows:

Members of the United Nations which have or assume responsibilities for the administration of territories whose peoples have not yet attained a full measure of self-government recognise the principle that the interests of the inhabitants of these territories are paramount, and accept as a sacred trust the obligation to promote to the utmost, within the system of international peace and security established by the present Charter, the well-being of the inhabitants of these territories, and, to this end:

a. to ensure, with due respect for the culture of the peoples concerned, their political, economic, social, and educational advancement,

their just treatment, and their protection against abuses;

- b. to develop self-government, to take due account of the political aspirations of the peoples, and to assist them in the progressive development of their free political institutions, according to the particular circumstances of each territory and its peoples and their varying stages of advancement;
- c. to further international peace and security;
- d. to promote constructive measures of development, to encourage research, and to co-operate with one another and, when and where appropriate, with specialised international bodies with a view to the practical achievement of the social, economic, and scientific purposes set forth in this Article; and
- e. To transmit regularly to the Secretary-General for information purposes, subject to such limitation as security and constitutional considerations may require, statistical and other information of a technical nature relating to economic, social, and educational conditions in the territories for which they are respectively responsible other than those territories to which Chapters XI and XII apply.

While the requirements placed upon colonial powers were scarcely onerous, the very fact that they moved towards accountability of such states to the international community lent a substantial impetus to decolonisation. Cassese explains the reasons for this impetus (pp.328-29). The crucial factors were the liberation movements in colonies and the support they derived from nonaligned and newly independent states within the UN.

At the Bandung Conference of 1955, 29 African and Asian countries met (with China, India and Indonesia playing a prominent role) and agreed to resist colonialism. This conference led to the formation of the "Non-Aligned Movement" in 1961, which was also dedicated to decolonisation. The other factors - the support of the "SecondWorld" (that is, the USSR and its allies) for decolonisation, the economic and social cost to colonial states, the waning support of the USA for European colonial empires and the rise to power of European parties that favoured decolonisation - were important, but less so. Article 73, as drafted, certainly played its part.

But while decolonisation was one of the great triumphs for the United Nations with the process being largely complete by 1975, self-determination brought a number of substantial problems, to which we will

turn shortly. First it is necessary to consider the role of the UNin this remarkable process.

Even the light obligations imposed by Article 73 were regarded as unacceptable by some colonial states and they attempted through a variety of rationalisations to avoid the reporting obligation. Portugal andSpain claimed that they were without colonies because their 'overseas territories' were in fact an integral part of the European state itself (thus Mozambique and Angola were argued to be a part of Portugal!). France argued that as its overseas territories were a part of the French Union they too were beyond the scope of Article 73, and the UK said that the article did not apply to territories that had local autonomy. Really the question was whether the power to define territories as colonies was to lie with the colonial powers themselves or with an external body.

By 1960, the newly independent and non-aligned states were in the majority in the UN General Assembly and promoted a Declaration on the Granting of Independence to Colonial Countries and Peoples that was passed as Resolution 1514 by a vote of 89 in favour and none against. There were, however, nine significant abstentions including the US, the UK, Portugal, Spain and Belgium. This Resolution, togetherwith the subsequent Resolution 1541, greatly altered and advanced the cause of decolonisation.

Resolution 1514 provided

- 1. The subjection of peoples to alien subjugation, domination and exploitation constitutes a denial of fundamental human rights, is contrary to the Charter of the United Nations and is an impediment to the promotion of world peace and co-operation.
- 2. All peoples have the right to self-determination; by virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development.
- 3. Inadequacy of political, economic, social or educational preparedness should never serve as a pretext for delaying independence.
- 4. All armed action or repressive measures of all kinds directed against dependent peoples shall cease in order to enable them to exercise peacefully and freely their right to complete independence and the integrity of their national territory shall be respected.
- 5. Immediate steps shall be taken, in Trust and Non-Self-Governing Territories or all other territories which have not yet attained independence, to transfer all powers to the peoples of those

territories, without any conditions or reservations, in accordance with their freely expressed will and desire, without any distinction as to race, creed or colour, in order to enable them to enjoy complete independence and freedom.

- 6. Any attempt aimed at the partial or total disruption of the national unity and the territorial integrity of a country is incompatible with the purposes and principles of the Charter of the United Nations.
- 7. All States shall observe faithfully and strictly the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights and the present Declaration on the basis of equality, non-interference in the internal affairs of all States, and respect for the sovereign rights of all peoples and their territorial integrity.

Thus, it called for immediate decolonisation, regardless of the colonial power's view of "readiness" or "maturity". At the same time it reinforced the view discussed below that territorial integrity implied that self-determination would be exercised within colonial borders. Resolution 1541 complemented this by providing that acts of self-determination must be exercised by the people to whom it applied, by free and fair elections by which they might choose either to constitute themselves as a sovereign independent state, or to associate freely with an independent state, or to integrate with an already existing state.

Other important developments in the United Nations were to be found in the finally signed two International Covenants on Human Rights of 1966 which had a common first Article, namely:

- 1. All peoples have the right of self-determination. By virtue of that right they freely determine their political status and freely pursue their economic, social and cultural development.
- 2. All peoples may, for their own ends, freely dispose of their natural wealth and resources without prejudice to any obligations arising out of international economic co-operation, based upon the principle of mutual benefit, and international law. In no case may a people be deprived of its own means of subsistence.
- 3. The States Parties to the present Covenant, including those having responsibility for the administration of Non-Self-Governing and Trust Territories, shall promote the realisation of the right of self-determination, and shall respect that right, in conformity with the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations.

The significance of these common provisions in the Covenants intended to give legal effect to the UDHR cannot be over-emphasised. Not only is a right of political self-determination asserted but it is asserted as a human right. Of equal importance to the right of political self-determination is that of economic self-determination.

One other development is also crucial. As we observed earlier, the preoccupations of the newly independent states and the Non-Aligned Movement lay not only with decolonisation but with states in which apartheid was accepted. The latter situation was encompassed by a determination by the General Assembly that those living under racist regimes or those living in occupied territories (especially but not exclusively Palestinians) also had a right to self-determination evenwhere they were in an established state such as South Africa.

While all these developments increased the rate of decolonisation and kept international attention focused upon the topic, they were not unproblematic in their results. Three features presenting problems must be considered - the operation of the principle of *uti possiidetis*, the methods by which the wishes of people claiming the right of self-determination were to be ascertained and guaranteed, and finally the operation of a proclaimed right of economic self-determination.

In-Text Question

What is the principle of uti possidetis and what was the impact of this principle on African countries at independence?

2.3.1 The Principle of *uti possidetis*

This principle, derived from Roman law and meaning (as Cassese says at p.83) "you will have sovereignty over those territories you possess as of law", has now been adapted and absorbed from the principles upon which Latin American states obtained independence in the early nineteenth century. Independence was acquired within the frontiers of the pre-existing colonial territory and these could not be altered unilaterally but only in agreement with adjacent states. Following the Second World War it was quickly accepted both by the colonial powers and by colonies seeking independence that this was an appropriate general principle and in turn this was accepted both by the Organisation of African Unity and by the ICJ (in the *Frontier Dispute Case (Burkina Faso* V. *Mali)* [1986] ICJ Rep 554).

No doubt this seemed sensible in the interests of stability. It has, however, had a great number of unfortunate consequences, many of which continue to plague African states in particular. The most cursory glance at a political map of contemporary Africa will reveal the number of

LED 712

boundaries that often extended in a straight line for hundreds of kilometers. Such boundaries were drawn by colonial drafters without reference either to the physical features of the territory being bounded, or to the people and their ethnicity who might live either side of the line. In fact straight African borders indicate that when they were drawn there was total ignorance of topography, geography or inhabitants (or, usually, all three) on the part of the drafters.

Not surprisingly, then, many African borders unintentionally contain disparate ethnic groups or, probably more seriously, cut through tribal territories, dividing people from their kith and kin and imposing different nationalities on them. The result of the first, the containing of disparate people, led to substantial secessionist problems, most acutelyin Biafra's attempt to secede from Nigeria, from 1967-70, and Katanga's attempt to secede from the Congo after its independence from Belgian rule. In fairness to those who rejected such secession it should be said that both of the above examples concerned the richest parts of ex-colonial states attempting to secede, and both movements were supported by states that hoped to profit.

The result of the application of *uti possidetis* has been a series of frontier disputes coming before the ICJ in which we see the rather unedifying spectacle of the disputes being resolved in a way thought to conform with colonial intention and evidenced by the earliest colonial maps or treaties. Many contemporary disputes in Africa, both internal and external, have their origins in colonial frontier drawing. Examples range from the civil strife within Ivory Coast to the frontier dispute between Eritrea and Ethiopia.

Thus the effect of *uti possidetis* has greatly constrained the proclaimed right of self-determination. Although value judgments may be inappropriate, some have argued that while the concept ofdecolonisation and self-determination was progressive, the consequent constraints of *uti possidetis* were distinctly conservative and prevented many peoples from breaking free from the colonial borders that had been imposed upon them. Certainly many minority peoples in African states have continued to experience subjugation. At the same time it remains obvious that statehood can never be equated with ethnic homogeneity. Arguably almost all states contain diverse ethnic groups and what is important is the access such people have to government participation and transparency.

2.3.2 Methods of Self-Determination and Consequences

Once the reality of decolonisation had been conceded by the colonial power there were still two issues to be resolved. The first was the means by which the future of the decolonised territory was to be resolved, and the second was to be the role of the colonial power in defining the terms under which self-government was granted.

As to the first, in retrospect it seems obvious that some act expressing the will of the people being decolonised should have been sought. Usually this was the case and plebiscites were often the means by which this was determined. Within African states receiving independence this was unproblematic. There was little doubt that the overwhelming majority of inhabitants would, and did, prefer domestic rule to that of colonial masters. There the question was rather about the constitutions with which such states were to be provided rather than determining wishes. This was not always the case, and on occasion events occurred that was difficult to reconcile with the spirit of decolonisation, and indeed its reality. Two examples indicate once more the significance of power in any analysis of international law.

The first example is that of Goa, an enclave on the West Coast of the Indian sub-continent. Goa was a thriving Portuguese colony for some 450 years. Portugal was arguably in breach of its UN obligations in not taking steps to ascertain the wishes of the people of the colony. In 1961 India entered and annexed Goan territory which it claimed was an integral part of "Mother India". This being the case it refused a referendum and the *de facto* result was accepted by the UN, a draft resolution condemning the annexation having been vetoed by the USSR.

The second example concerns what was once West New Guinea, aDutch colony from 1883. It was the western half of the second largest island in the world, the other half of which became independent Papua New Guinea in 1975. When in 1949 the independent state of Indonesia was formed from the Dutch colonies known as the Dutch East Indies, West New Guinea was retained by Holland with a view to preparation for independence. Indonesia, under President Sukarno, and with thesupport of the Non-Aligned Movement in which he was influential, laid claim to all former Dutch territory. It had already successfully incorporated the Molucca Islands, although the Dutch decolonisation agreement had provided for the possibility of Moluccan secession - afact subsequently ignored by the United Nations.

Sukarno's claim to West New Guinea was no more attractive or reasonable than Dutch colonial occupation. There was no natural link between West New Guinea and Indonesia and the claim can be seen as an attempt at late colonisation. Nevertheless, after armed confrontation by Indonesia in 1962, the Dutch entered negotiations which led to the transfer of the territory and its sovereignty to UNTEA (the United Nations Temporary Executive Authority) for six years, after which period it was to determine the people's preference between independence and Indonesian integration. Almost immediately Indonesia began to direct events and finally, in 1969, a referendum of 1,205 delegates was organised in a vote that was neither representative, free, nor fair. This vote in favour of integration into Indonesia was accepted by the United Nations, to its shame and notwithstanding misgivings, and the territory was unhappily transferred to Indonesia in November 1969. Needless to say, the change in sovereignty has brought no happiness to the ordinary people of West New Guinea (known nowas Irian Jaya) and opposition to the regime continues.

What should be understood, therefore, is that although self-determination is portrayed as always beneficial to those enjoying the right, this is not necessarily inevitable, unless the process is carried out in the manner supposedly intended.

As to the role of the colonial power in defining subsequent constitutional arrangements, we turn to two other examples: Burma(Myanmar) and Indonesia. (More detailed information is to be found in an article by Karen Parker entitled "Understanding self- determination: the basics", at http://www.webcom.com/hrin/parker/selfdet.html).

Both are examples of attempts by departing colonial powers to leave a constitutional legacy in the form of a written constitution intended to constrain the sovereignty of newly independent states. This was a typical process but the two chosen examples were early ones that foreshadowed the impossibility of the task, even if well meant. Burma gained independence from Great Britain in 1948 with a constitution that had been drafted in 1947. This provided for a parliamentary democracy and also, in recognition of the different peoples within Burma, provided for states within Burma for each of the Karen, Kachin and Shan people. Although the parliamentary democracy was to be unitary, Article 201 provided that any of the above groups would have a right to seceed after 10 years of constitutional rule. As you might know, within that 10 year period the majority Burmese seized power and unilaterally removed the right to secession even though it had been thought that it had been effectively entrenched.

Two points should be noted. Firstly, although constitutions usually continue to operate "beyond the grave" (obviously the US constitution is an example of this), where a constitution is left as an imposed colonial legacy it is likely that its prestige will be greatly diminished. Secondly, the effect of constitutional changes by the newly independent state might be (as happened in Burma) to extinguish the very "self- determination rights" of minority peoples, supposedly achieved through decolonisation.

Indonesia too was formed from many different peoples in what had previously been the Dutch East Indies. The Dutch used many soldiers from the Moluccan islands in the struggle against decolonisation. In 1949 there was a Round Table Conference between the Netherlands, the Javanese (leaders of the Indonesian independence movement) and the United Nations, which agreed upon a de-colonisation instrument. It too included the possibility of "opt-outs" providing for plebiscites for territories not wishing to be a part of the 'United States of Indonesia'. Plebiscites were never permitted and when the Moluccan leadership declared independence in 1950, the islands were invaded by Indonesian forces. The matter was taken up by the United Nations Commission for Indonesia but the UN did nothing and the Commission ceased to exist five years later - no doubt reflecting the wishes of both newly independent states and those of the Second World who were more concerned with decolonisation than true self-determination.

There are also parallels to be discovered in African decolonisation and state constitutions.

2.3.3 Economic Self-Determination

As is clear from Article 1 of the International Covenants on Human Rights, there was recognition that political self-determination in itself was insufficient. Thus there was an insistence that independent states should have the right to control both their economies and their resources without external interference. What was claimed was both the right to nationalise property within the new state regardless of ownership and title, and the right to economic development on equitable terms. (At this time it was not expressed in such terms but was implicit in the request of many independent but disadvantaged countries for financial and technical assistance.)

Cassese (pp.507-08) observes how from the 1960s newly independent states perceived the damage done to their economies by the terms under which they traded. Industrial prices rose persistently while primary produce and raw materials, the major exports of decolonised states, remained at or fell below the prices achieved at independence. Although nationalisation of foreign property remained an option, the reality of the consequences detracted from the attractiveness of this option, and to make matters worse, developed states took the view that the corollary of the right to nationalise was the obligation to pay "fair" compensation. Efforts by the newly independent states to achieve a New International

Economic Order through a General Assembly resolution in 1974 were successful in a resolution but had little real effect.

Attempts to redress the wealth disparity between North and South made

LED 712

little progress in spite of having the concept of "the common heritage of mankind" adopted within a Law of the Sea Convention in 1982 (discussed later), and in spite of achieving a UN General Assembly Declaration recognising a "human right to development". All these attempts to argue for economic redress for the debilitating effects of colonialism by way of fair trade and development, while very successfulin obtaining widespread UN support, achieved very little in real terms. Indeed it is possible to argue that while self-determination brought political control, at least to parts of the indigenous population, one of its major effects was to remove the administrative burden and cost of colonialism from the colonial states and to place it directly upon ex-colonies.

Such a generalisation demands discussion and thought beyond the cope of this course, and it would be unfortunate to conclude this unit on a negative note. The fact is that many states decolonised since 1945 have made much greater strides towards economic independence andprosperity than they could have expected had their colonial status continued. Few would now maintain that a system whereby territory and peoples are administered by foreign nationals with whom sovereignty resides is anything other than acceptable and immoral. That colonialism was for so long accepted as unproblematic by European empires seems, in retrospect, almost unbelievable. This has been the great achievement of decolonisation.

Self-Assessment Exercise

Can one provide general answers to why decolonisation and selfdetermination achieved less than might have been hoped or expected? In your view does responsibility lie with developed or underdeveloped states? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

In conclusion, this unit has been concerned with the change in the principle of self- determination that existed at the time of (and in) the UN Charter to a "human right of self-determination" in the 1966 International Covenantson Human Rights. The argument is that rapid decolonisation was both remarkable and generally in the interests of indigenous inhabitants. Nevertheless it is important to recognise the limitations of the right and the fact that some people got as little from "decolonisation" as they had from colonial administration. This stems in part from the application of the principle of *uti possidetis*, and in part from the factual lack of economic self-determination which impeded economic development.

2.4 Summary

We considered the United Nations Charter on self-determination and decolonisation. You should now be able to explain the significance of the UN Charter in the change from self-determination as a principle to self-determination as a human right and recognise the limitations to the right created by the principle of *uti possidetis*.

2.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

Cassese, Chapter 16: *The Role of the United Nations*, pp.328-29. Kaczorowska, Chapter 14: *Self-determination of Peoples*, pp.340-52.

2.6 Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise

While general answers can be given, it should be added that each act of decolonisation and self-determination was unique with different histories and relationships with the colonial power. The self- determination and independence of Asian colonies was also significantly different from that of African colonies. Similarly the difference in the consequences of self-determination and independence for each new statewas marked.

Nevertheless, at least for African states it is possible to say that they often came to independence within colonial boundaries which were inappropriate for settled statehood. It can also be asserted that often the colonial powers had done less than they might to educate the indigenous population for self-government. In addition, very often colonial investments continued to pay dividends to the colonial shareholders and the right of economic self-determination was difficult to achieve. A further general problem lay in the world trading regime, which tended to operate against the interests of producers of primary resources. Lastly, less help was provided to counter the under-development that arose from colonisation than could have been expected, in spite of the efforts made through international law.

UNIT 3 SELF-DETERMINATION AFTER THE COLD WAR

Unit Structure

- 3.1 Introduction
- 3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 3.3 Contemporary Rules on Secession
- 3.4 Summary
- 3.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 3.6 Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise

3.1 Introduction

By the end of the Cold War in 1990 most people thought that the concept of self-determination had almost fulfilled its purpose. This was because it had been accepted as being of relevance only to colonial or occupied peoples and there were few of these left. One obvious remaining problem was that presented by the Palestinian situation, particularly after the war of 1967 in which Israel captured and continued to occupy the West Bank and Gaza.

Many resolutions were passed by the UN recognising the right of Palestinian self-determination, but unwavering support by the US for whatever position the Israeli government adopted in order to resist, left the Palestinians frustrated and the Israelis building more and more settlements in the occupied lands. Israel has remained intransigent notwithstanding international pressure and, as we have seen, has continued to defy an ICJ decision, with the construction of a "security fence" largely built in the occupied land. Regrettably, this is one right of self-determination that still remains to be exercised.

3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the contribution of the right of self-determination to the process of decolonisation
- identify the limitations of the right to self-determination in any claimfor secession
- explain the significance of the end of the Cold War and the disintegration of the Soviet Union for the concept of self-determination
- discuss the fact that secession will usually only be accepted when it has become an accomplished fact.
As we have seen above, any right of self-determination was subordinate to the principle of the territorial integrity of a state, and hence there was no right of secession. Academic writers suggested that where secession was sought this would only be arguable where those wishing to secede were deprived of their civic rights within the state in which they existed. A right of internal self-determination meant that all peoples within a state should have equal rights of access to the means of government, but not a right to their own government. In some ways this emphasis upon territorial integrity was understandable. The feeling was that if distinct ethnic groups, religious groups or language groups were to be able to argue for independence, the resulting fragmentation of states would have no end. It was also recognised that if secession was tolerated, most secessions would themselves lead to the creation of a new minority within the seceding state.

Nevertheless the events at the end of the Cold War forced a reconsideration of the place of self-determination. The disintegration of the Soviet Union into 15 independent states was a remarkable event. That it was accomplished with so little violence was nothing short of astounding. The disintegration brought about not only new institutions of government but agreement about the division of both the SovietUnion's assets and its debts. Again the principle of *uti possidetis* was applied, with the new states appearing within their erstwhile federal frontiers. Eleven of the states that replaced the Soviet Union remained inloose alliance with Russia, in a Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS), while the Baltic states, Latvia, Estonia and Lithuania, together with Georgia, rejected such links.

Immediately following the break-up of the Soviet Union, came the disintegration of Yugoslavia. It is notable that at least in the early stages of the crisis international emphasis was upon the territorial integrity of Yugoslavia and there was no assertion of a right to secession. It is still widely argued that the recognition of the independent states of Croatia and Slovenia occurred only when the disintegration was an accomplished fact. (While there can be no right to secession, sufficient power to assert the fact of secession may suffice for recognition! This is discussed further below.)

The contemporary dilemma concerns the status of Kosovo. Intervention by NATO, unsanctioned by the UN Security Council, had prevented Serbian forces from asserting authority over what Serbia regarded as Serbian territory. On Sunday 17 February 2008, Kosovo declared independence from Serbia amidst celebrations and protests.

In Nigeria, the issue of self-determination cannot be undermined, especially with the on-going crises in the Niger/Delta region of the country where the oil producing States are clamouring for independence

(self-rule), due to long years of neglect by the Federal Government. This would be discussed in detail in the next unit. Also bear in mind that the issue of self-determination of the then Eastern Region of Nigeria led to the Nigerian Civil War in 1967.

In-text Question

What was the classical understanding of self-determination and what was the effect of the end of the cold war on that understanding?

3.3 Contemporary Rules on Secession

While there have been many secessionist movements since the Cold War they tend to be diverse in their nature, cause and hopes. They range from attempts by Tamils to create an independent state in Sri Lanka to Somalis attempting to create a state of Somaliland, from attempts by those in Western Sahara to achieve independence to Chechnyans fighting for independence from Russia, from Quebecois wishing to separate from Canada to the Scottish National Party seeking independence from the United Kingdom. When considering any of thesecases it is useful to refer to the conclusions reached by the Canadian Supreme Court when it was asked by the Federal Government to consider the legitimacy of any Quebecois declaration of independence if it was successful in obtaining a positive vote for independence in a referendum. (When the question was asked there had already been two such referenda, in 1980 and 1995, and although independence was rejected, the second vote was very close with a majority of only 1 per cent.) The Supreme Court decision is available in full athttp://scc.lexum.umontreal.ca/en/1998/1998rcs2-217.html.

The most important point it makes is consistent with the Aaland Islands decision of 1923. The Supreme Court had been asked to consider both whether such a declaration of independence would be legal under the Canadian Constitution and whether it would be consistent with international law. The Court's answer was that such unilateral secession was not consistent with either, and emphasised that territorial integrity prevails over any right of external self-determination. Effectively it stated that where rights of internal self-determination were protected so that the "government represents the whole of the people or peoples resident within its territory, on a basis of equality and without discrimination, and respects the principles of self-determination in its own internal arrangements, [it] is entitled to the protection under international law of its territorial integrity".

In other words, as we have seen above, a right of external selfdetermination can exist only where a people or peoples are denied equal access to the machinery of government and civil rights. Of course in some ways Quebec is a unique situation. It is not a case where a territory at the extremity of the state is seeking to detach itself. The geographical position of Quebec in the centre of Canada means that were it to achieve independence the implications for the remainder of Canada would be severe. In addition, as with the Aaland Islanders, not only were the inhabitants not discriminated against but their language and culture received real protection.

The contemporary position is accurately stated (though with a caveat (which we shall add at the end) in the summary of legal advice given by Professor James Crawford of Cambridge University in answer to a request from the Canadian Department of Justice in 1997. These were his conclusions:

- (a) In international practice there is no recognition of a unilateral right to secede based on a majority vote of the population of a subdivision or territory, whether or not that population constitutes one or more "peoples" in the ordinary sense of the word. In international law, self-determination for peoples or groups within an independent state is achieved by participation in the political system of the state, on the basis of respect for its territorial integrity.
- (b) Even where there is a strong and sustained call for independence (measured, for example, by referenda results showing substantial support for independence), it is a matter for the government of the state concerned to consider how to respond. It is not required to concede independence in such a case, but may take into account the national interest and the interests of all those concerned.
- (c) Even in the context of separate colonial territories, unilateral secession was the exception. Self-determination was in the first instance a matter for the colonial government to implement; only if it was blocked by that government did the United Nations support unilateral secession. Outside the colonial context, the United Nations is extremely reluctant to admit a seceding entity to membership against the wishes of the government of the state from which it has purported to secede. There is no case since 1945 where it has done so. Where the parent state agrees to allow a territory to separate and become independent, the terms onwhich separation is agreed between the parties concerned will be respected, and if independence is achieved under such an

agreement, rapid admission to the United Nations will follow. But where the government of the state concerned has maintained its opposition to unilateral secession, such secession has attracted virtually no international support or recognition.

(d) This pattern is reflected in the so-called "safeguard" clause in the United Nations General Assembly Resolution 2625 (XXV), the Friendly Relations Declaration of 1970. In accordance with this clause, a state whose government represents the whole people on a basis of equality complies with the principle of selfdetermination in respect of its entire people and is entitled to the protection of its territorial integrity. The people of such a state exercise the right of self-determination through their equal participation in its system of government. [A copy in full of the advice is to be found at http://canada2.justice.gc.ca/en/news/nr/1997/factum/craw .html]

In spite of these conclusions it is possible to infer from the first and fourth sections that a right of external self-determination might exist where a people or peoples enjoy no participation in the political system and/or are subject to discrimination. Such examples could arguably be found in Chechnya or Tibet. But these two examples make a different but familiar point. No secession will ever be permitted from a strong state regardless of the political conditions obtaining.

Finally, notwithstanding Professor Crawford's conclusions, the example of Eritrea's independence should be mentioned. At the end of the Second World War Eritrea became a trust territory administered by the UK. In 1952 control was transferred to Ethiopia by the UN where it retained full autonomy until annexed by Ethiopia in 1962. It remained an Ethiopian province with UN acquiescence until a prolonged war of resistance, and independence was finally gained in 1993 with the downfall of the Ethiopian dictator, Mengistu. An Eritrean plebiscite under the supervision of the UN was held, as a result of which independence was declared and the new state was recognised by Ethiopia. What this example demonstrates is that where a territory is physically able to insistupon its demands for secession, the de *facto* position will gain recognition. The state from which secession has taken place will have no realistic alternative to acceptance and recognition.

Self-Assessment Exercise

Is the idea of a human right to self-determination of any continuing relevance after decolonisation? Should it be? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

In Conclusion, two factors affected the use of the concept of selfdetermination at the end of the Cold War. The first was the disintegration of the Soviet Union and the reasonably amicable creation of new independent states. New limitations on the concept of territorial integrity became necessary upon the subsequent dissolution of Yugoslavia though in both cases the principle of *uti possidetis* was applied. The fact of the disintegration could not be denied.

The second factor was that because self-determination had been confined to decolonisation and this process was almost complete, the concept required a new definition if it was to have any continuing relevance. This has been achieved, at least theoretically, by distinguishing a right of internal self-determination from a right of external self-determination. As always in international law, the question of power is central in any purported exercise of self-determination. This is nowhere better illustrated than in the Palestinian people's frustrated but acknowledged right to self-determination.

3.4 Summary

We have considered the issue of self-determination after the Cold War. You should now be able to:

- 1. explain the contribution of the right of self-determination to the process of decolonisation;
- 2. identify the limitations of the right to self-determination in any claim for secession;
- 3. explain the significance of the end of the Cold War and the disintegration of the Soviet Union for the concept of self-determination;
- 3. Explain the fact that secession will usually only be accepted when it has become an accomplished fact.

3.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

Cassese, Chapter 16: The role of the United Nations, pp.328-29.

Kaczorowska, Chapter 14: Self-determination of Peoples, pp.352-65.

3.6 Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise

There were always problems associated with declaring the right to selfdetermination a human right. It was difficult to know who theholders of the right were and it was hard to define who was obliged to grant the right. What could not be doubted was the purpose of including the right in the Covenants. This was to stress the centrality of the cause of decolonisation to the majority of UN members.

With the completion of the process of decolonisation, however, and with general acceptance that secession was unrelated to a right to self-determination; the proclaimed human right seems to be redundant. The exception to this assertion, however, is probably to be found in the unfulfilled claim to economic self-determination. Attempts continue to be made to assert this and related claims (particularly the right to development) as *human* rights, no doubt for reasons of rhetoric.

UNIT 4 ETHNIC NATIONALS IN NIGERIA AND THE **RIGHT TO SELF DETERMINATION**

Unit Structure

- 4.1 Introduction
- 4.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- The Nigerian State and the Different Major Ethnic Groups 4.3
 - 4.3.1 Geographical Distribution of Ethnic Nationals
 - 4.3.2 The Concept of Self-Determination
 - 4.3.3 The Degree of Self-Determination

 - 4.3.4 Ethnicity, Self-Determination: The Nigerian Experience4.3.5 Self-Determination in Nigeria and the Minority National Question
- 4.4 **Summary**
- References/Further Readings/Web Sources 4.5
- Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise 4.6

4.1 Introduction

It is not in doubt that Nigeria is a unilateral colonial creation. It was created not for the good of Nigerian people but to ease colonial administration and financial management of a vast and disparate territory.

Tekena Tamuno puts it succinctly - "The amalgamation of Northern and Southern Nigeria was basically a major political means of solving a serious economic problem. Its main weakness however, lay in the British government's failure to consult the wishes of the people in a matter of such great political and economic significance between 1898 and 1914."

Different peoples were thus brought into forced cohabitation. Since the forced creation of Nigeria in 1914, Nigeria has grappled with the problems of different peoples living in one society and trying to build one nation. With that queer geographical engineering, a multi-nation state whose binding matrix was colonial violence was born with a forceddraft case; a cascade of ethnic and national inequities was erected.

4.2 **Intended Learning Outcomes**

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- define self-determination
- explain the origin, characteristics and functions of self-• determination

discuss self-determination in relation to Nigeria especially the agitation of the Niger Deltans for resource control and limited autonomy over the conduct of their affairs.

4.3 The Nigerian State and the Different Major Ethnic Groups

The country has more than 250 ethnic groups. Some of these groups have peculiar customs, tradition and languages. The groups inhabit different zones of the nation. The distribution of ethnic groups in the country has been partly influenced by geography. Areas that could support life were well occupied, while people avoided environments that were hostile.

For instance, there was a large concentration of small groups in Central Nigeria. Several of these groups enjoyed a large measure of political autonomy. This concentration and political patterns have been attributed to the rugged topography, hostility of more powerful neighbours and rampant slave trade.

Today, Central Nigeria is noted as an area of sparse population. Other similar areas are the North East, especially around the Chad and to some extent the Niger Delta. The country now has three major clusters of dense population:

- 1. The Igbo area in the Southeast with an average population density of over 150 persons per kilometer;
- 2. The Yoruba land in the Southwest with a density of over 140 persons per kilometer; and
- 3. Kano with an average density of 100 persons per kilometer.

These are some of the major groups of people who live in the different geographical zones in the country.

4.3.1 Geographical Distribution of Ethnic Nationals The Central Zone

This area covers the Niger Delta, Lagos and the Creeks. The coastal people include the Yoruba in the creeks and lagoons; and the Kalabari, Okrika, Ijaw, Nembe, Bonny, Itsekiri, Urhobo, Oron, Ogba, Ogoni, Andoni, Isoko, Benin.

The Forest Zone

This is the area of tall trees and dense undergrowth. Among the groups in this zone are the Edo, Ibibio, Igbo and Yoruba. **The Savanna Zone**

This is a region of open woodland and tall grasses. It covers the large plains that extend from the Sahara Desert in the north, to the tropical forest in the south. The Savanna zone is inhabited by the Kanuri of LakeChad, who speak Nilo Sahara language, the Hausa speaking people, the Fulani, the Jukun, Nupe, Igala, Tiv, Angas, Idoma, Kataf, Kaje, Jaba, Birom, Gwari, Beriberi, Shuwa, Chamba, Egbirra, Bede, Bole kanakuru.

4.3.2 The Concept of Self-Determination

Self-determination is defined as the determination of one's act or state by oneself without external compulsion. The right of a people to decide its future political status (as with respect to form of government or independence) or its actions in so deciding by plebiscite.

The right to self-determination is a third generation right which is the collective or group rights. These are rather recent rights that emerged in the later 1960 and 1970 and were predominantly supported by the newly independent and developing states. Although this right has since been recognised as a legal right in international law, its enforcement remains a topical issue today more than ever in the light of recent events around the world especially in the Balkams. The right to self-determination has become a peremptory norm of international law.

4.3.3 The Degree of Self-Determination

There are different degrees of self-determination. Independence is not the only outcome of self-determination. Some ethnic, racial or minority groups who are concentrated in a part of a country could demand independence. Some others demand for limited self-rule within existing borders with links to the Federal government. Others demand just a right to greater participation in the political, social and economic processes of their countries not self-government as such.

As a result of non-recognition of a legal right to secede, the international community has invented autonomy. This allows groups of people to have a degree of autonomy within borders and is viewed as a middle ground between the principle of territorial integrity and the chaos of universal self-determination within a federal state. An autonomy scheme for a geographically concentrated ethnic minority may grant that minority modest self-government and retain vital powers for the central government internal self-determination through autonomy schemes may blunt a minority's demand for external self-determination.

The international community is more likely to support a degree of autonomy as they have in Kosovo than full independence, which could lead to more instability and conflict. The success of autonomy depends on a pre-existing ethnic accommodation and civic faith in the rule of law, democratic set-up, all of which are rare in the countries where ethnic minority and violence occur.

SELF -ASSESSMENT EXERCISE 1

Describe the concept of self-determination. (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

4.3.4 Ethnicity, Self-Determination: The Nigerian Experience

Nigeria, being a nation of hundreds of ethnic groups or nationalities and having been under military dictatorship for most of her postindependence years, has had a fair share of attempts by ethnic minorities to assert a right to self-determination. Apart from Col. Odumegwu Ojukwu's failed Biafra attempt in 1967 at asserting a right to selfdetermination, there was the Isaac Adaka Boro led attempt in the Niger Delta which was quickly repressed by the Nigerian government. There was also, the Kenule Saro-wiwa led Movement for the Survival ofOgoni People (MOSSOP), which led to the hanging of Ken Saro-wiwa and eight other Ogoni activists by the Nigerian government on November 10, 1994.

Recently, there has been a resurgence of nascent struggle for selfdetermination by the Ijaws in the Niger Delta, the Yorubas of the Southwest, the Igbos of the Southeast, the Middlebelt region and the Arewa group representing the northern states of Nigeria. These groups do not seek full autonomy or a right to secede. They have used a popular Nigerian phrase --"being marginalised over the years"-- and feel that they ought to have a greater participation in national affairs.

The case of the Ijaws and Ogonis has more to do with neglect by the Federal Government. They assert a right to more participation and representation in government and economic development of the region as the crude oil that oils the machinery of the Nigerian Government is mostly located under their soil or off their shores with the attendant environmental degradation.

This is a classical reason why ethnic groups or minorities seek selfdetermination as the more these groups feel alienated and removed from the main stream of socio-political and economic processes of the nation, the more they seek to assert their right to self-determination. In present day Nigeria, what we are witnessing in the Niger Delta region is a situation in which ethnic militias have resorted to kidnapping expatriates, children and reputable politicians in the region to presshome their point. The agitation has assumed a dangerous dimension where sophisticated weapons are employed to confront security agents.

It is a man-made disaster of epic proportions. All around Nigeria, trenches are being dug and positions are hardened. There are frightening memoranda and manuals for disintegration flying all over the place. Nigeria is witnessing the worst form of political violence and the country is passing through the most difficult period.

Indeed, questions are being asked openly and constantly on the feasibility and desirability of Nigeria as a nation as presently constituted. The response of some of the different ethnic groups can be found in the memoranda below.

Ogoni Bill of Rights

The Ogoni (Babble, Gokanna, Ken Khana, Nyo Khana and Tai) numbering about 500,000 people, being a separate and distinct ethnic nationality within the Federal Republic of Nigeria. On 2nd of October 1990 addressed an "Ogoni Bill of Rights" to the then President of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, General Ibrahim Babangida and members of the Armed Forces Ruling Council.

The Ogoni Bill of Rights states thus;

"Now therefore while re-affirming our wish to remain a part of the Federal Republic of Nigeria, we make demands upon the Republic as follows: That the Ogoni people be granted political autonomy to participate in the affairs of the Republic as a distinct and separate unit of whatever name called, provided that this autonomy guarantees the following –

- i) Political control of Ogoni affairs by Ogoni people.
- ii) The right to control and use of a fair proportion of Ogoni economic resources for Ogoni development.
- iii) Adequate and direct representation as of right in all Nigeria's national institutions.
- iv) The use and development of Ogoni languages in Ogoni territory.
- v) The full development of Ogoni culture.
- vi) The right of religious freedom.
- vii) The right to protect Ogoni environment and ecology from further degradation".

The Kaiama Declaration

The Kaiama declaration is the article of faith of the Ijaw nation to the government of the Federal Republic of Nigeria. The resolution of the19th December, 1998 of All Ijaw Conference held in Kaiama, Bayelsa State Nigeria, states as follows:

We the humble youth of Ijawland hereby make the following resolutions to be known as the Kaiama Declaration –

- (a) We agree to remain within Nigeria but to demand and work for self-government and resource control for Ijaw people. The conference approved that the best way for Nigeria is a Federation of ethnic nationalities. The Federation should be run on the basis of equality and social justice.
- (b) All land and natural resources (including mineral resources) within the Ijaw territory belong to Ijaw community and are the basis of our survival.
- (c) We cease to recognise all undemocratic decrees that rob our people/communities of the right to ownership and control of our lives and resources, which were enacted without our participation and consent. These include the Land Use Decree, Petroleum Resources Decree, etc.

This Kaiama Declaration of the Ijaw people has been the basis of agitation for resource control; the struggle has taken many dimensions and it is still the basis of agitation till present day within the Nigeria Federation.

The Yoruba Agenda

The focus of the Yoruba nation of the Southwestern part of Nigeria and as aptly articulated by their leader, Senator Abraham Adesanya, is an unflagging commitment to the earnest restructuring of the Nigeria polity with a view to ensuring that each of the federating units enjoy ample right to self-determination. That is to say each federating unit not only has access to but also has total control over its God-given endowments – human, mineral and material resources.

For the Yorubas, the Yoruba problem of unity has never been more urgent since the June 12 election of Moshood Abiola presidential election that was annulled by the Federal government in 1993. They have been the bull of physical and psychological attack from the Nigerian State.

Since the days of Chief Obafemi Awolowo, they have insisted on a balanced federation that gives the regions greater autonomy. While calling on a vigorous type of federalism, they can say all that came was an initial deformed federalism and lately a full-scale unitary government.

The Igbo Agenda

The Ohaneze Ndigbo, the Igbo mainstream socio-cultural and political movement captured the condition of the Igbos thus; "It is not just marginalisation, neither is it only alienation or mere deprivation. It is simply exclusion." Perhaps it is a measure of some recrudescence of their faith in Nigeria that they even bother to complain.

The Agenda of the Igbos for a united Nigeria is as follows:

A united Nigeria that has a 6 regional structure as the basis of a new federation, rotational presidency, a derivation-based revenue allocation formula and redefined citizenship rights.

The intellectual and theoretical grounding for the demands are quite robust. They involve the idea of a "functional federation of nationalities" to include 6 zones (3 zones each for the major and minor ethnic groups).

The preference for large zones is recognition that the creation of states rather than expanded federalism has actually strengthened the momentum towards unitarism. In response to the aggravation, unitarism and the subversion of federalism, the zones will become the new federal units completely at liberty to create and manage as many states as the component nationalities of each zone / region desires.

When power changed hands on May 29, 1999 from military to civilian government, it was more than a return to democracy. There was a fundamental power shift from the North to the South which totallyaltered the geo-political equation in Nigeria. The coming on board of the Arewa Consultative Forum underscores the Northern part of the country's interest in finding a common platform where Northern interestcould be articulated and protected. The Arewa Consultative Forum is an amorphous assembly comprising retired military generals, former leaders, heads of states, traditional rulers, politicians and businessmen of the Northern extraction. It is also interesting to note that many of the 19 Northern states have adopted the Sharia legal system in their various states in defiance of the provisions of the Nigerian Constitution. The Sharia legal crusade is a danger sign post which is a clear pointer to the principle of self-determination. The Nigeria federation is today based on the most challenging test of survival. The minorities do not believe in their place within the federation. None of the federating partners today sees the other as a next brother on a collective journey of destiny.

Elsewhere, the Niger Delta resistance youths have plunged the area in unwholesome violence. The creeks, waterways and even the cities have been made unsafe by a sudden explosion of ethnic-based militia groups who kill, take hostages, sack villages and vandalise oil installations.

The philosophy of violence expressed in different tenors by the various ethnic groups appears to have gained currency all over the country. Hitherto bottled-up frustration, grievance and fear are being generously oftentimes recklessly vented.

In-Text Question

Define the term "Resource Control".

4.3.5 Self-Determination in Nigeria and the Minority National Question

The minority and the national question are as old as the Nigerian nation state. The insecurity felt by the minority communities across the country has merged with ethnic claims and agitation to now constitute what is popularly referred to as the national question. Essentially, the national question refers to how to structure the Nigerian Federation to acknowledge and guarantee identity and national rights within the context of a true democratic framework.

The persistent mismanagement of the national question as well as apparent insensitivity even trivialisation of the issue by the custodians of state power has created a fertile ground for ethnic entrepreneurs, local warlords and political opportunists that have only further complicated matters. While the minority question was prominent in both the Southern and Northern Protectorates, the amalgamation of both protectorates in 1914, largely for administrative convenience only widened the field for minority and ethnic agitation and conflicts. Of course several Nigerian leaders are on record as to their regrets and belly aching over the amalgamation.

One founding father once described Nigeria as "a mere geographical expression" while another felt that the amalgamation of the Northern and Southern Protectorates in 1914 to create the territory of Nigeria was "a

mistake". They have however never answered the question as to why they continue to fail to address the national question.

The emergence of hundreds of environmental ethnic minority secessionist groups, regionalists, human rights and pro-democracy groups around the national question shows that it has defied all the superficial and opportunistic responses by various central governments since independence.

In-text Question

Briefly explain the fear of the minority groups within the Federation of Nigeria and how their problems can be solved?

In conclusion, we are in the 21st century and the right to selfdetermination of people isstill as relevant as it was 60 years ago. Although it began as the right of colonial or occupied people only; the right to selfdetermination has continually reinvented itself and it is now the right of oppressed people everywhere.

Self-determination is a continuing process and will endure as long as certain ethnic groups do not feel that they are part of the machinery of government by which decision affecting them are made and implemented. So long will claims to a right to self-determination, be it external or internal continue.

If the nature of government in a nation is more responsive than it is and the level of participation of all groups in the country is higher, there would be less need to assert the right to self-determination by any of the constituent groups. A good example of this is Quebec region of Canada where a 1997 referendum on whether to secede was defeated due to the democratic and representative system of government where the rights of the Quebecois are truly protected.

The reverse is the case in Africa where governments are always violently opposed to any assertion of a right to self-determination. The ethnic nature of the Nigerian society is a real one, it cannot be wished away. Those who try to do so at least in public, only have to turn to the example of the Soviet Union, Yugoslavia and Romania to disabuse their minds.

4.4 Summary

The feeling is that 49 years after political independence, the majority of

the ethnic groups, especially the minority groups are frustrated about the structure of the nation. This development of feelings of frustration could be monitored through the memoranda or Bill of Rights of the different ethnic groups in Nigeria, served on the Federal Government about how they want to control their own affairs.

A thorough study of the Constitutions and the Bill of Rights or Charters of Demands of the different groups do not advocate a breakup of Nigeria. But they want maximum control over the affairs of their territories.

4.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

Williams, Adebayo. The News Magazine, 19th June, 1995.

- Olorunyomi, Dapo. *The News Magazine*, 21st February, 1994 pp. 19-20. Madunagu, Edwin. *The Guardian Newspaper*, Thursday October 19,2000.
- Ige, Ogunniyi Ayodeji Ebenezer (2000). *Ethnic Nationals in Nigeria and the Right to Self-Determination*: An Unpublished LL.M Dissertation, University of Lagos.
- Falola, T., Mashadi, A., Uhomoshiu, A. & Anyanwu (1989). *History of Nigeria*. Longman, pp. 12-35.
- Ngozi, Anigwo, Dulve, MB Achu. *Constitutional Right Project Journal*, October –December 1993 Vol.8 ISSN 1116-2503.
- Okwo, Disa, Nkwoli. (1978). Enugu (Fourth Dimension Press). p.215.
- Tamuno, T.N. (1992). *The Evolution of the Nigeria State, the Southern Phase 1898 – 1914.* London: Longman p.422.
- Uzoigwe, G.N. (March 1985). African History as a Legacy of Berlin Act, Africa Now, p.27.

Summer, W. G. (1959). Folkways. New York: Dovers.

4.6 **`Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise**

Self-determination is the exercise of self will without external compulsion. It is the right of a people to decide its future political status in terms of political status or independence from an existing state.

Self-determination is classified as a third generation right which is exercisable by a group. Self- determination has been recognised as a right but there are significant problems associated with its enforcement. The right to self-determination has become a peremptory norm of international law.

UNIT 5 STATES, TERRITORY AND RECOGNITION

Unit Structure

- 5.1 Introduction
- 5.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 5.3 State Acquisition or Disposal of Territory in International Law
 - 5.3.1 Recognition in International Law
 - 5.3.2 Territoriality and Maritime Zones: other Rights over the Sea and its Bed
- 5.4 Summary
- 5.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 5.6 Possible Answers to self-Assessment Exercise

5.1 Introduction

The discussion of the right of self-determination has so far left unconsidered two major areas of international law that are crucial for a full understanding of territory and international law. The first relates to the principle of *uti possidetis* and answers the question as to how a state either upon creation or later may acquire or dispose of territory. The second looks at the topic of recognition of a state's claim to territory and its importance. We shall also consider the issue of territorial and other rights over the sea and its bed.

5.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the relevance of recognition to state identity
- explain the means by which sovereign territory may be gained ordisposed of
- outline the changes in the law relating to the exploitation of the seaand the sea bed since the Second World War
- discuss the debates concerning newly created rights over the sea andsea bed.

5.3 State Acquisition or Disposal of Territory in International Law

Until the formulation of the UN Charter, this was a complex topic with abstruse rules. A world in which territory was won by conquest, or the planting of a flag, or international agreement of European colonial powers, or indeed by purchase regardless of the wishes of inhabitants, or simply by occupying territory previously uninhabited, at least by "civilized" people, called for rules of an elaborate nature. Those that existed were based initially upon Roman law. On occasions they remain relevant even post-Charter, as for instance when frontier disputes exist between decolonised states leading to uncertainty as to where the borders are to which *uti possidetis* applies, or should have applied upon independence. These cases are, however, so rare that it is enough for you to be aware that such questions might arise and to know that most international law texts spend a disproportionate amount of time discussing law that is largely irrelevant to the twenty-first century.

Article 2(4) of the UN Charter States

All Members shall refrain in their international relations from the threat or use of force against the territorial integrity or political independence of any state, or in any other manner inconsistent with the Purposes of the United Nations.

Having recalled this provision, the ICJ, in *Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall* in *the Occupied Palestinian Territories* - an advisory judgment in 2004, stated in para 87 as follows:

On 24 October 1970, the General Assembly adopted resolution 2625 (XXV), entitled 'Declaration on Principles of International Law concerning Friendly Relations and Co-operation among States' (hereinafter 'resolution 2625 (XXV)'), in which it emphasisedthat "No territorial acquisition resulting from the threat or use of force shall be recognised as legal." As the Court stated in its Judgment in the case concerning Military and Paramilitary Activities in and against Nicaragua (*Nicaragua* V. *United States of America*), the principles as to the use of force incorporated in the Charter reflect customaryinternational law (see I.C.J. Reports 1986, pp. 98-101, paragraphs 187-190); the same is true of its corollary entailing the illegality of territorial acquisition resulting from the threat or use of force.

This unequivocal statement contains the law of territorial transfer in the present day. Transfer can only be legitimate if it comes with the agreement of the sovereign parties to the deal. Such a conclusion has manifest consequences for the future of Israeli settlements in the Occupied Territories. Only Israel and the United States have argued that "facts on the ground" might replace international law. It is also relevant to remember that Israel's purported annexation of the Golan Heights and all of Jerusalem has received no external support (or recognition - see below).

Nevertheless, it should be noted in passing that challenges to colonial acquisition of title continue in the claims of indigenous peoples in such countries as Canada, New Zealand, Australia and the USA.

5.3.1 Recognition in International Law

Because the world of states is not one which is irrevocably settled, new states and new configurations of old states have been a constant feature of international relations. Thus apart from decolonisation, we have seen the creation of new independent states arising from the dissolution of the Soviet Union and the former Yugoslavia, and we have seen the amicable division of what was Czechoslovakia into the Czech Republic and Slovakia. Such changes in statehood necessitate a response from other states taking cognisance of the new realities. It is here that recognition is important.

Recognition by one state of another state implies that the recognising state is willing to enter into relations with the entity that is being recognised. The recognition may be of either a state or the governmentof a state. Where it is the state that is being recognised, recognition implies that the recognising state accepts that the recognised state hasthe attributes of a state and will be treated as such. The recognition of a government formally acknowledges that the recognising state accepts that the recognised regime is the effective government and will betreated on that basis. In addition the recognition may be express, as for instance by a formal announcement, or it may be by implication throughan act which of itself implies recognition *unequivocally*, particularly by entering a bilateral treaty.

Very often the recognition will be collective, as when a state is newly admitted to membership of the UN under the procedure set out in Article 4 of the Charter. Once a state has been admitted to the UN it becomes subject to, and benefits from, sovereign equality (Article 2(1)). Indeed it was the fact of Kuwait's membership of the UN that made Iraq's purported annexation before the first Gulf War subject to almost unanimous condemnation.

There is also an academic debate as to whether recognition is "declaratory' or "constitutive". In other words, does recognition simply recognise an existing reality or is it the act(s) of recognition that creates the reality of statehood? The Montevideo Convention on the Rights and Duties of States stated the generally accepted criteria for statehood as requiring (a) a permanent population, (b) a defined territory, (c) a government and (d) capacity to enter into relations with other states; it went on in Article 3 to add, 'The political existence of a state is independent of recognition by the other states'. This is clearly an acceptance of the declaratory thesis but it is equally clearly largely obsolete. Those who argue that recognition is more than this point firstly to Article 4 of the UN Charter, which provides for admission only to those states willing to accept the Charter obligations. They are able to reinforce this position by considering the events leading to the recognition of states formed from the dissolving Soviet Union and the Former Yugoslav Republic. Here the EC had determined that recognition was to be granted only upon important specified conditions. To this end the foreign ministers of the member states of the EC adopted the following "Guidelines on the Recognition of New States in Eastern Europe and in the Soviet Union" in 1991:

In compliance with the European Council's request, ministers have assessed developments in Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union with a view to elaborating an approach regarding relations with new states.

In this connection they set out the following guidelines:

The Community and its Member States confirm their attachment to the principles of the Helsinki Final Act and the Charter of Paris, in particular the principle of self-determination. They affirm their readiness to recognise, subject to the normal standards of international practice and the political realities in each case, those new States which, following the historic changes in the region, have constituted themselves on a democratic basis, have accepted the appropriate international obligations and have committed themselves in good faith to a peaceful process and to negotiations.

Therefore, they adopt a common position on the process of recognition of these new states, which requires:

- 1. respect for the provisions of the Charter of the United Nations and the commitments subscribed to in the Final Act of Helsinki and in the Charter of Paris, especially with regard to the rule of law, democracy and human rights;
- 2. guarantees for the rights of ethnic and national groups and minorities in accordance with the commitments subscribed to in the framework of the Commission on Security and Co-operation in Europe;
- 3. respect for the inviolability of all frontiers which can only be changed by peaceful means and by common agreement;
- 4. acceptance of all relevant commitments with regard to disarmament and nuclear non-proliferation as well as to security and regional stability;
- 5. commitment to settle by agreement, including where appropriate by recourse to arbitration, all questions concerning state

succession and regional disputes.

The Community and its member states will not recognise entities which are the result of aggression. They take account of the effects of recognition on neighbouring states.

Thus, the position would seem to be that states are not under an obligation to recognise a state merely because of a political reality. East Germany was not recognised as a state by the West until1973 and the "Turkish Republic of Northern Cyprus" received recognition only from Turkey.

Finally, you will probably not be surprised to learn that there remains one anomalous territory, that of Palestine. A State of Palestine was proclaimed in November 1988, establishing it in the land of Palestine with a capital at Jerusalem (Al-Quds Ash-Sharif), though of course it is difficult to reconcile with the Montevideo criteria for statehood. Nevertheless the State has been recognised by almost half of the nations of the world and all of the Arab League. Obviously such recognition is a politically motivated action reflecting the frustration of many states at the Middle Eastern impasse.

SELF-ASSESSMENT EXERCISE 1

Explain the debate about whether recognition is declaratory or constitutive. Is the debate significant? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

5.3.2 Territoriality and Maritime Zones: Other Rights over the Sea and its Bed

So far in discussing self-determination and the acquisition and disposal of territory we have confined ourselves to a consideration of land. Until well into the twentieth century this would have been sufficient. Whereas territorial rights over land were highly developed, questions of ownership of and rights over the sea and its bed remained largely unasked. This was for a number of important reasons. The first concerned the rights of passage of ships. So important was merchant shipping that all powerful nations had an interest in protecting the rights of ships to the freedom of the seas.

The only real limitation layover the territorial sea where it was generally accepted that states could claim three nautical miles from the coastline as part of national territory. Because of this status the state enjoyed full sovereignty over the territorial sea, the airspace above it, the seabed and all that lay below it. Even then, however, the sovereignty was subject to the right of innocent passage that lay with all foreign merchant shipping and warships. "Innocent passage" meant that the right could be exercised if passage was not prejudicial "to the peace, good order or security of the coastal state". While the right has sometimes been contested, usually the power of states in whose interests the rule operates has been sufficient to ensure innocent passage.

In-text Question

The sovereign right of a coastal state over the territorial sea is subject to the right of innocent passage. Discuss.

The 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea determined that coastal states should be able to claim up to 12 nautical miles of territorial sea (one nautical mile is 1.852 kilometres, or 1.508 land miles). This development was very much a part of the process by which property rights were being asserted over what had previously been available to all. Typically, property claims are made over resources that have scarcity value. As long as the sea was seen as primarily a route for shipping and a place for fishing, with enough fish for all, there was no need to make property claims. By the end of the Second World War coastal states had come to realise that the seabed and what lay below it could be extraordinarily valuable. Then followed a "property grab", unseen since the scramble for colonies. It began with President Truman's Proclamation of September 1945 which stated:

Having concern for the urgency of conserving and prudently utilising its natural resources, the Government of the United States regards the natural resources of the subsoil and sea bed of the continental shelf beneath the high seas but contiguous to the coasts of the United States asappertaining to the United States, subject to its jurisdiction and control. In cases where the continental shelf extends to the shores of another State, or is shared with an adjacent State, the boundary shall be determined by the United States and the State concerned in accordance with equitable principles. The character as high seas of the waters above the continental shelf and the right to their free and unimpeded navigation are in no way thus affected.

Very quickly customary international law followed the proclamation, to the great benefit of all coastal states fortunate enough to have a continental shelf. In turn the Geneva Convention on the Continental Shelf (1958) (and the later 1982 Convention on the Law of the Sea) regularised the position and as a result states are able to claim up to 200 nautical miles of continental shelf, not as sovereign territory but asterritory that the coastal state has an exclusive right to explore and exploit. Such rights do not affect the status of the high seas nor the air space above the continental shelf.

Initially coastal states without significant continental shelf appeared to be prejudiced by that fact in that the ability to exploit the sea was not initially extended in the same way. This disadvantage was corrected with the creation of an "exclusive economic zone" (EEZ). The 1982 Convention defined this EEZ as "an area beyond and adjacent to the territorial sea' which was not to extend beyond 200 nautical miles. Again sovereignty is limited - in this case to rights "for the purpose of exploring and exploiting, conserving and managing the natural resources, whether living or non-living, of the seabed and subsoil and the superjacent waters". Most importantly, even if there is no continental shelf the rights include the right to regulate fishing within the EEZ.

What will be apparent, then, is that within 30 years of the UN Charter the law of the sea had undergone an immense change to the considerable benefit of most coastal states (not all, because some that had beeninvolved in distance fishing found their rights restricted). Particularly through offshore oil exploitation many coastal states had title to resources to which a claim was recognised only in the second half of thetwentieth century. Land locked states received no such benefit of course, and it was this that persuaded many of the delegations at the Law of the Sea conferences to attempt to distribute at least the proceeds of the exploitation of the deep seabed in a way dictated more by need thanluck. While this was the view of developing states who argued that the benefits of deep sea exploitation should be recognised as "the common heritage of mankind", the developed states (not altogether coincidentally the states with the ability to exploit the deep seabed) argued merely for regulation and licensing.

The 1982 Convention provided that all deep seabed exploration should be carried out and controlled by an "International Sea Bed Authority". Cassese explains the subsequent events (p.92-94). Whereas the Convention paved the way for the deep seabed to be used "in the interest of mankind", this was firmly rejected by industrialised countries, and the Convention did not enter into force until 1994 when considerable concessions were made to the perspective of the developed countries.

Self-Assessment Exercise 2

"The whole development of the law of the sea was thus dictated by State sovereignty, nationalism, and a laissez-faire attitude. In the scramble for economic, scientific or military control over the new resources, almost all new notions were inspired by self-interest and geared to competition". (Cassese, p.82.)

Does this quotation accurately reflect developments concerning the law of the sea after the Second World War? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

In conclusion, changes in the law of the sea over the last 60 years have been dramatic. This has been to the great advantage of many coastal states and to noreal advantage to others. To a large extent the size of the benefit has corresponded to the length of coastline, although some states have found their continental shelf to be much richer in natural resources than others. Attempts to distribute these "windfall" profits more equitably proved significantly unsuccessful. This was the case despite attempts to secure the benefits of the deep sea bed for distribution in accordance with need.

5.4 Summary

We have considered how sovereign territory may be acquired or disposed of. Since the UN Charter, acquisition or disposal is only possible by agreement. Even prolonged occupation will no longer suffice and purported annexation is unlawful. When considering the role of recognition in international law it was necessary first to explain the effect of recognition and how it is granted either of a state or a government. It was also important to understand that de *facto* situations cannot compel recognition and that it is not uncommon for a recognising state to impose conditions before recognition.

5.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

Kaczorowska, Chapter 5: *Recognition*, pp.73-94, pp.98-120.

Cassese, Chapter 4: States as the Primary Subjects of International Law, pp.73-80.

Dixon, Chapter 5: *Personality, Statehood and Recognition*, pp.117-30. Dixon, Chapter 8: *The Law of the Sea*, pp.195-224. Cassese, Chapter 5: The Spatial Dimension of State Activities, pp.81-94.

5.6 Possible Answer to Self-Assessment Exercise 1

The significance of recognition is that it is an indication of the recognising states' willingness to treat the recognised state as a state. The academic question is whether without such recognition a state may be said to exist notwithstanding. The answer is probably a qualified "Yes". It is not uncommon for states to be recognised by only a limited number of states. Taiwan, for instance, is recognised by only 23 generally very small states and does not exist as an independent state in the eyes of most states or in the view of the United Nations. The correct position is probably that unrecognised entities do not exist as states for those who withhold recognition, but do for those who do. Reference should also be made to the distinction between recognition de *facto*, and recognition de *jure*.

Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise 2

This requires consideration of the changes to the law of the sea since the Second World War. It seems to be demonstrably true whether one thinks of the territorial sea, the continental shelf, the EEZ or even the deep sea bed. Those states with coastlines have been legitimated in their acquisition of new property rights.

Attempts to distribute such property rights more equitably have largely been defeated. It is important to be able to explain the essence of the new regime and to show how little it has in common with the concept of "the common heritage of mankind". Altruism in the division of the spoils is conspicuous only by its absence. LED 712

MODULE 2

Unit 1	The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes in International Law
Unit 2	The Contentious Jurisdiction of the ICJ Exemplified by
	Nicaragua V. USA

Unit 3 The Advisory Jurisdiction of the ICJ and International Arbitration

UNIT 1 THE PEACEFUL SETTLEMENT OF DISPUTES IN INTERNATIONAL LAW

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 1.3 Legal Method and International Dispute Resolution
 - 1.3.1 The History and Structure of the ICJ
 - 1.3.2 Criticisms of the ICJ
 - 1.3.3 The Limited Use Historically Made of the ICJ
- 1.4 Summary
- 1.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

1.1 Introduction

The Charter of the United Nations places considerable emphasis upon the obligation of member states to avoid conflict and to settle disputes through peaceful means. Article 1(1) states that it is a purpose of the UN to:

"bring about by peaceful means, and in conformity with the principles of justice and international law, adjustment or settlement of international disputes or situations which might lead to a breach of the peace"

while Article 2(2) places an obligation upon members to:"settle their international disputes by peaceful means in such a manner that international peace and security, and justice, are not endangered."

Every member of the United Nations is of course a party to this Charter and is bound by it. The means of the pacific settlement of disputes is the subject of Chapter VI of the Charter. Such means include, under Article 33, "negotiation, enquiry, mediation, conciliation, arbitration, judicial settlement, resort to regional agencies or arrangements, or other peaceful means of their own choice". You should notice immediately that the means suggested for resolving disputes, while they are all obviously lawful, are not all, strictly speaking, legal means as we defined them. Negotiation, enquiry, mediation and conciliation, while they do have definitions in international law, seem to lack the quality of legal means. This, assuggested in LAW 511, requires some "translation" from the social and political world to a legal frame in which legal issues are isolated and answered. For this reason in this Module, we will primarily be concerned with judicial resolution, especially through the ICJ, and to a lesser extent with arbitration.

The Module will begin with a discussion of the legal method and international dispute resolution, and will then proceed to a rather critical analysis of the International Court. It will consider the history of the Court, its composition and statute, and some cases will exemplify the points made.

Nevertheless, for the sake of completeness, mention is required of the non-legal methods. These are well explained in Dixon but summarised here. Negotiation is obviously the means by which most international disputes are resolved. This is usually, but not necessarily, diplomatic and face to face, and any agreement will have the status intended by the parties. It will be legally binding if this is what the parties intend. Mediation and good offices involve a third party or third parties. "Good offices" from a third party precede negotiation, and mediation is a third party attempting to mediate, or be an intermediary between disputing parties. A commission of inquiry is usually a preliminary means by which facts may be impartially found in order to provide the basis for a resolution to the dispute.

1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- discuss the significance of the emphasis placed by the international community upon the peaceful settlement of disputes
- explain the means enumerated in Article 33 of the UN Charter forthe peaceful settlement of disputes
- explain why some means of settlement can be categorised as legalmethods and some not
- discuss the ICJ in its form and structure
- describe the legal method of the Court
- formulate criticisms of both the Court and its methods.

1.3 Legal Method and International Dispute Resolution

It was observed in LAW 511 that international law is a phenomenon without compulsory jurisdiction in the event of disagreement or dispute. This is in spite of the fact that compulsory and binding jurisdiction was perceived as desirable by many writers for most of the twentieth century. Many argue that an international court with the ability to hand down authoritative judgments which would finally decide the rights and wrongs of issues which threaten world peace, and also with the moral or physical standing to ensure compliance, would contribute directly to the United Nations objective of maintaining international peace and security. Often, it is argued, legal dispute resolution is the only alternative to the resolution of the dispute by force, often meaning war.

There have historically been many efforts to persuade states that their interests lay in accepting this compulsory jurisdiction and the obligation to give effect to judgments even when inconvenient or worse. In retrospect this attempted persuasion seems to have been doomed tofailure.

The assumptions of those who advocated the acceptance of compulsory jurisdiction were over-optimistic for two central reasons. The first lie in the distinction between politics and law, and the second (which is related) is concerned with the belief in the objectivity of law and its ability to provide justice.

These reasons may be exemplified through discussion of the significance of two decisions of the International Court of Justice. The first concerns the USA and its "relations" with the government of Nicaragua; the second, the advisory opinion given by the Court in 1996 after considering whether the threat or use of nuclear weapons is, in any circumstances, permitted under international law. Both cases illustrate the advantages, and also the pitfalls of putting international problems into legal form.

1.3.1 The History and Structure of the ICJ

The ICJ is the judicial organ of the United Nations and was the successor to the Permanent Court of International Justice (PCIJ), which was established in the aftermath of the First World War in 1921. There were however some significant differences between the two which indicate changing attitudes to adjudication in international law. As JudgeBedjaoui observed when he was President of the ICJ, the PCIJ was more of a precursor than a predecessor. This, he explained, was because ofone striking difference between the Courts.

Whereas the PCIJ, not an organ of the League of Nations, "aimed essentially to do no more than establish peace in order to preserve the

status quo', the ICJ was an integral part of the United Nations with the framers of the UN Charter directing their efforts towards the establishment "of an entirely new international society - a society consistently moving towards progress; a society more just, more egalitarian, more wont to show solidarity, more universal; a society all of whose members were to engage in an active and collective endeavour to usher in a full and lasting peace".

Thus, he suggests that the ICJ was to be fully integrated into the concerns and purposes of the United Nations Organisation.

While both Courts were given the authority to give final judgments, neither was given the power to create new international law. Decisions of the Courts do not, at least technically, create precedents as they would if they were given in domestic common law jurisdictions, although their importance will in fact extend beyond the instant case. The impetus for the creation of both Courts came from the reasonable sentiment that the use of force to settle disputes should be avoided as a matter of both policy and choice. As Judge Weeramantry often observed while a judge of the ICJ, there was a recognition that all major international disputes are finally concluded by negotiations and adjudication, and this in itself suggests that it is advantageous to have the negotiations and adjudication before, rather than after, the use of force.

The creation of both Courts was stimulated by senseless and revolting carnage and the reaction thereto. The Statute of each Court provided that states could at any time declare that they recognised the jurisdiction of the Court as compulsory *ipso facto* in relation to any other state accepting the same obligation, in all legal disputes concerning a wide range of topics. In such a case it is provided that if the dispute is of a legal character and concerns the interpretation of a treaty; any question of international law; the existence of any fact which, if established, would constitute a breach of an international obligation; or the nature or extent of reparation to be made for the breach of an international obligation, then the Court's jurisdiction becomes compulsory (Article 36(2) of the Statute of the Court). Most disputes between states would come within at least one of these provisions.

In-Text Question

How are judges for the ICJ chosen?

1.3.2 Criticisms of the ICJ

For various important reasons this acceptance of compulsory jurisdiction has not proved popular and hence the role of the ICJ in world affairs remains limited, although not inconsequential. Why should this be? A first answer lies in the composition and structure of the Court itself. The Statute of the Court provides that appointed judges are to be qualified for the highest judicial offices in their own state, or that they should be jurisconsults of recognised competence in international law (Article 2).

There are 15 judges from 15 different states, elected by the UN General Assembly and the Security Council, and they sit as independent judges for nine year terms. The intricate voting procedure elaborated in Articles 3-12 ensures that each elected candidate has received majority support in both the General Assembly and the Security Council.

It is provided also that at every election (these are staggered) the electors are to "bear in mind not only that the persons to be elected should individually possess the qualifications required, but also in the body as a whole the representation of the main forms of civilisation and of the principal legal systems of the world should be assured". Perhaps the use of 'the main forms of civilisation" might not give great confidence to the poorest states and the suspicion is always that "civilisation" is equated with power and wealth, rather than culture. It is not without significance that the two working languages of the ICJ are English and French. It is certainly true that the composition of the ICJ has remained contentious, with the view often being expressed that the Court was dominated by the North and by the powerful states in particular. There has recently been increased diversity in the judges chosen but this has certainly not met all of the objections. The problems lie rather deeper and lead to inherent contradictions. Such diversity as there is comes from a system which has evolved *de facto*. In this system, probably not incorrectly labelled as a "gentlemen's agreement", there is a regional distribution of judges with three from Africa, three from Asia, two from Latin America, two from Eastern Europe, and five from Western Europe and other countries. Within that regional distribution there is a 'convention' which ensures that a judge from each of the states which hold permanent membership of the UN Security Council will be elected.

Only one female judge has been elected in the history of both the PCIJ and the ICJ (Judge Rosalyn Higgins). Just as significant is the difficulty in actually achieving the diversity apparently envisaged? Although the judges sit as independent it is obvious that candidates will only be selected if they have shown a significant commitment to the structure, form and methodology of international law as it is. Neither rebels nor iconoclasts will conceivably be elected no matter what state they come from or with what support. Thus it may be argued thatnotwithstanding the diversity of states from which judges come, the ICJ will continue to reflect a very Western perception of the way in which courts should operate and the sort of legal perspective that is brought to bear. Furthermore, although the judges are nationals of 15 states, overwhelmingly they have received at least some part of their legal education in the USA, the United Kingdom or France.

This homogeneity of judicial identification is reinforced by the status, salary and privileges which are a part of their appointments. With the status of eminent people of ambassadorial rank, constantly reinforced by procedures which emphasise their exalted positions, their diversity tends to evaporate. This of course is only significant if it is accepted, as has been argued, that the international law way of proceeding is in fact not objective or neutral but imbued with the ideological perceptions of the West.

SELF-ASSESSMENT EXERCISE 1

What criticisms may be made of the form and structure of the International Court of Justice? Do you agree with them? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

1.3.3 The Limited Use Historically Made of the ICJ

The fact that there are concerns over the structure and composition of the Court only partly explains the reluctance of states to grant jurisdiction. More fundamental is the very real apprehension about the usefulness of litigation and adjudication as a method of dispute resolution. By its very nature a legal case may be won by either party, and it is obvious, if usually unobserved, that no party if given a choice would choose to litigate unless that party believed it had a very real chance of success. Indeed even then it might well choose negotiationand mediation rather than the risk of adjudication.

It was observed last semester that the legal method of resolving disputes brings other problems as well. In the selection of the "legally relevant", many social facts of significance to the parties or their constituents may simply be ignored, bringing political danger to governments. And because of the adversarial method of the ICJ this in itself often has the effect of aggravating disputes rather than mitigating them.

Finally there is the well-founded fear that the application of international law will generally preserve the status quo rather than promoting change which might arguably be desirable. (One alleged example of this concerned the legality of the NATO intervention in Kosovo. When the government of Yugoslavia attempted to have the legality of the intervention considered by the ICJ, the UK government refused to allow the case to be heard as they were entitled to do. One reason advanced for the refusal to accept was that the law relating to humanitarian intervention was still developing and to allow the ICJ to determine the existing position might set back this development).

It is seldom forgotten that international law governed the colonial world just as "objectively" as it now governs a world of independent states. Considering the cost and the time involved in litigation, if the outcome is unpredictable, usually only those states unlikely to prevail in other forums will be prepared to chance all before the ICJ.

Two significant qualifications to this critique must however beaddressed and allowed. The first is that while the disadvantages of the legal method of dispute resolution are clear, so too are the advantages. In structuring a dispute in terms of questions of international law, while much of the political reality and context may be lost, the advantage is that a question is formulated that is answerable. At least the dispute **as formulated by law** may be resolved. A sometimes quoted example suggests that there are disputes in which both parties welcome anysolution because of the intransigence of the argument. In the words of Nagendra Singh, a judge at the ICJ from 1973 until his death in 1988:

The successful resolution of the border dispute between Burkino Faso and Mali in the 1986 *Frontier Dispute Case* illustrates the utility of judicial decision as a means of settlement in territorial disputes. The case was submitted to a Chamber of the ICJ pursuant to a special agreement concluded by the parties in 1983. In December 1985 while written submissions were being prepared, hostilities broke out in the disputed area. A ceasefire was agreed, and the Chamber by an order of 10 January 1986 directed the continued observance of the ceasefire, the withdrawal of troops within twenty days, and the avoidance of actions tending to aggravate the dispute or prejudice its eventual resolution. The case proceeded, and in its judgement of 22 December 1986 the Chamber determined the overall course of the frontier line. The Presidents of Burkino Faso and Mali publicly welcomed the judgement and indicated their intention to comply with it.

Thus, the legal method may be useful where resolution plus authority is in the interests of all parties, and it may also be appropriate in disputes between friendly states prepared to accept outside jurisdiction, as in several cases concerning the law of the sea. The second qualification to the critique is that the record of the ICJ (such as it is, given that until recently very few cases had been referred to it) does not suggest that it has been less than independent. Its activities with regard to South West Africa (now Namibia) in 1966 did cause international concern, particularly in the non-Western world, when it held that it enjoyed no jurisdiction to determine whether South Africa was in violation of its mandate from the League of Nations in maintaining a system of apartheid within the territory. Certainly many African and Asian states regarded this decision as unacceptable and doubt was cast upon both the credibility of the Court and its ability to move easily into a post-colonial era.

Some of the lost ground was recovered when in 1971, in an advisory opinion given at the request of the Security Council dealing with some aspects of the status of Namibia in international law, the Court upheld the obligation of states to give effect to a Security Council Resolution declaring the continued presence of the South African authorities to be unlawful. Sound though this may have seemed, its merit was greatly diminished by South Africa's continuation of occupation until 1990. The ability to ignore an advisory opinion and to flout the ruling did little to increase the standing of the Court in the eyes of those consistently offended both by apartheid and by the Western friends of the South Africa government.

Overall, however, it is difficult to assess and appraise the Court because it is obviously constrained by the cases referred to it. But the fact that there have been so few must obviously represent either a distrust of legal method and international law as a suitable dispute resolution method or a sense that law is not relevant to political disputes.

Such suspicion and scepticism can only have been increased by the effects of the ruling of the ICJ in the case between Nicaragua and the United States. For many reasons, this is one of the most significant cases have been heard by the ICJ. But as will be seen, it is at least as significant for what it failed to achieve as for what it decided. And parenthetically it is not unimportant in assessing this case to observe the difficulty of discovering the facts which gave rise to this case, both in British international law textbooks and even in collections of cases and materials. While there are myriad references to the law applied in that case, the factual reality of the aggression of the United States against Nicaragua is made to appear quite peripheral. There are few betterexamples of how "pure" international law can be with the legal being severed from the political context.
In conclusion, arguably the scope for judicial resolution of international disputes is limited. This is because judicial resolution will seldom resolve political issues. The structure and form of the ICJ can, anyway, be seen asreflecting Western perspectives on judicial resolution and although the Court is drawn from many states this remains the case.

1.4 Summary

We have looked at the legal method and international dispute resolution and the limited use historically made of the ICJ. You should now be able to:

- (i) Explain the significance of the emphasis placed by the international community upon the peaceful settlement of disputes;
- (ii) Explain the means enumerated in Article 33 of the UN Charter for the peaceful settlement of disputes;
- (iii) Explain why some means of settlement can be categorised as legal methods and some not;
- (iv) Explain the ICJ in its form and structure;
- (v) Describe the legal method of the Court; and
- (vi) Formulate criticisms of both the Court and its methods.

1.5 References/Further Reading/Web Resources

Cassese, Chapter 14: Promoting Compliance with the Law and Preventing or Promoting Disputes, pp.278-95.

Dixon, Chapter 10: *The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes*, pp.259-88. Kaczorowska, Chapter 15: *Peaceful Settlement of Disputes between States*, pp.366-409

1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

This requires a description and consideration of the form and structure of the ICJ. It is open to criticism because its history suggests that it is a male dominated institution in which the judges are selected in a way which predisposes a particular legal ideology. In spite of the emphasis upon internationalism it can be argued that the Court remains imbued with European legal thinking (though not everyone would see this as a defect). The geographical distribution of judges is also questionable, especially the factual reservation of places for each permanent member of the Security Council. The exodus from the Court of two members whose minority views disagreed significantly with the majority in the *Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons Case* is also important. Finally, because of the opacity of the process by which judges are actuallychosen it is difficult to feel confident in the process.

UNIT 2 THE CONTENTIOUS JURISDICTION OF THE ICJ EXEMPLIFIED BY NICARAGUA V. USA

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 2.1 Introduction
- 2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 2.3 Nicaragua V. USA
- 2.4 Summary
- 2.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 2.5 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

2.1 Introduction

In this Unit, we consider the contentious jurisdiction of the ICJ as exemplified by the case of *Nicaragua* Vs. USA.

2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the role of the ICJ in contentious cases, and
- discuss how it is limited by political realities.

2.3 Nicaragua V. USA

Nicaragua brought its action against the United States making some of the gravest allegations known to international law. The history of the antagonism between these two states had begun its latest chapter very shortly after the Nicaraguan Sandinistas overthrew General Somoza, the dictator of Nicaragua from 1967 to 1979. Somoza, even when judged by the low standards of military dictators, excelled in both human rights abuse and avarice. The kindest thing US President Johnson had reportedly been able to say of him was, "He may be a son of a bitch, but he's our son of a bitch".

Almost any overthrow would have been an improvement, but in fact the Sandinistas arrived with policies of land reform, public health care and education. These were policies calculated at once to appeal to the populace and to appall the government of the United States of America, which not only feared for the security of foreign investment in Nicaragua but was seemingly apprehensive about another "threat of a good example" to other Central and South American dictatorships and their populations. It is not an exaggeration to assert that the policy of theUSA towards Nicaragua was directed at making the humanitarian goals pursued by the Sandinistas impossible to attain. Not only did the USA train, arm and pay for the "Contras" (in the main, remnants from Somoza's oppressive army who, when he was still in power, had indulged in every form of torture and human rights abuse directed at the peasants who were thought to support the Sandinistas) who were determined to make reform impossible; it was also found by the ICJ to have mined Nicaraguan harbours, attacked oil installations, ports and shipping and even permitted the distribution of a manual on guerrilla warfare techniques which the Court found to be contrary to "general principles of humanitarian law".

The United States argued vehemently that the ICJ was not the appropriate forum within which to consider its 'differences' with Nicaragua. Because the strife between the countries was political, and inso far as this was alleged to threaten international peace and security, this was, it was argued, a matter not for the ICJ but rather for the Security Council of the United Nations which is charged under Article

24 of the UN Charter with "... primary responsibility for themaintenance of peace and security...".

This argument did have its merits. There was clearly a threat to international peace and security and in other circumstances the Security Council would have been the obvious main forum. In this situation, however, the argument was disingenuous because as long as the matter was within the Security Council the United States would be able, if necessary, to exercise its veto to prevent any action which might constrain its political goals (for example, the destruction of the Sandinista government of Nicaragua).

In-Text Question

What was the USA defence in the case of Nicaragua V USA?

When the US government decided to withdraw from further proceedings in the ICJ it made a public statement explaining its position. This pronouncement declared that the continuing proceedings constituted a "misuse of the Court for political purposes...the Court lacks jurisdiction and competence over such a case".

Why, then, did the ICJ feel able to consider the problem notwithstanding the Security Council involvement? The ICJ is declared in the Charter of the United Nations to be the principal judicial organ of the UN and according to the Statute of the ICJ was given jurisdiction over all cases referred to it by state parties. Once the Court found that the UnitedStates had, under Article 36(2) of the Court's Statute, accepted thecompulsory jurisdiction of the Court (as, it was held, had Nicaragua) it was scarcely open to it to suggest that the appropriate forum for dispute resolution lay elsewhere. Given that the allegations were of grave breaches of international law, the ICJ could not plausibly have declined jurisdiction within the terms of its own Statute.

The position of the United States, had it not been so utterly untenable, would have bordered on the ludicrous. Initially its position was to vehemently dispute the jurisdiction of the ICJ, claiming that its qualified acceptance of Article 36(2) of the Court's Statute was not matched by Nicaragua's qualified acceptance (a position rejected by the Court). When this argument did not prevail the United States simply announced that it would no longer recognise the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court, with immediate effect, and so withdrew. Such an act was patentlyin breach of treaty obligations voluntarily entered into. It was also a devastating and cynical act by the world's most powerful nation and betrayed the long held position of the United States which had favoured compulsory jurisdiction. No one more clearly highlights just what the United States' reaction to the action begun by Nicaragua meant than D.P. Moynihan in his book on the law of nations. This is an impressive source because Moynihan, a sometime Senator from New York, had also been both Professor of Government at Harvard, and US Ambassador to the United Nations.

Moynihan uses two quotations to show how the thinking of the United States had changed. He quotes President Eisenhower in 1959 stating that "the time has come for mankind to make the role of law in international affairs as normal as it is now in domestic affairs..." and supporting global acceptance of ICJ compulsory jurisdiction, adding that it would be far "better to lose a point now and then in an international tribunal and gain a world in which everyone lives at peace under the rule of law". He then adds a quotation from then Vice-President Richard Nixon where he observed that the United States "should be prepared to show the world by our example that the rule of law, even in the most trying circumstances, is the one system which all free men of good will must support".

One final quotation from Moynihan is relevant because of its poignant accuracy (and continuing pertinence). He quotes Professor Louis Henkin of Columbia University as summarising the inferable position of the United States government towards international law at this time as follows:

The United States appears to have adopted the view that under international law a state may use force in and against another country for the following reasons:

- to overthrow the government of that country in order to protect livesthere
- to counter intervention there by another state and carry the attack tothe territory of the intervening state

- to overthrow the government of that country on the ground that it ishelping to undermine another friendly government in reprisal for that country's suspected responsibility for terrorist activities in the hopeof deterring such acts in the future
- to overthrow a communist (or pro-communist) government or to prevent a communist (or pro-communist) government from assumingpower, even if it was properly elected or emerged as a result of internal forces.

To its credit, the ICJ ruled against the USA in 1986, notwithstanding the refusal of that state to appear. The ICJ refused to decline jurisdiction as the USA had hoped. Undoubtedly the judgment is highly significant for international law and international lawyers. Typically a book of cases and materials in international law will have some seven excerpts from the Merits judgment considering the sources of international law, the relationship between custom and treaty, *jus cogens*, sovereignty over air space, state responsibility and private persons, the use of force, and self-defence.

The benefits to the state of Nicaragua were rather less than those to international lawyers and writers. While at least some of the latter observe in passing that the United States rejected the decision of the Court and refused to accept its ruling, few actively considered the aftermath. Yet this is surely crucially important both for the Nicaraguan citizens and for other states contemplating adjudication of international issues through the World Court. Supposedly one great merit of the ICJ and the rule of law is that in legal proceedings states are equal before thelaw. In this case of exceptionally high visibility the United States showed itself able to ignore the Court with impunity, and even avoid Security Council condemnation for the clearest breach of treaty obligation. Article 94 of the Charter of the United Nations isunequivocal:

- (1) Each Member of the United Nations undertakes to comply with the decision of the International Court of Justice in any case to which it is a party.
- (2) If any party to a case fails to perform the obligations incumbent upon it under a judgement rendered by the Court, the other party may have recourse to the Security Council, which may, if it deems necessary, make recommendations or decide upon measures to be taken to give effect to the judgement.

Yet the aftermath seems to be seen by most international law writers as a matter for political, rather than legal, commentators. Although Noam Chomsky's writing (beyond the field of linguistics) is sometimes more emotive than "dispassionate" academic audiences are used to, his comments about the decision of the ICJ seem justified:

The World Court condemnation of the United States evoked further tantrums. Washington's threats finally compelled Nicaragua to withdraw the claims for reparation awarded by the Court, after a US-Nicaragua agreement "aimed at enhancing economic, commercial and technical development to the maximum extent possible", Nicaragua's agent informed the Court. The withdrawal of just claims having been achieved by force, Washington moved to abrogate the agreement, suspending the trickle of aid with demands of increasing depravity and gall. In September 1993, the Senate voted 94-4 to ban any aid if Nicaragua fails to return or give adequate compensation (as determined by Washington) for properties of US citizens seized when Somoza fell-assets of US participants in the crushing of the beasts of burden by the tyrant who had long been a US favourite. (From Chomsky, N. *World orders, old and new.*)

Even before these developments, Nicaragua had clearly found itself with a Pyrrhic victory (or worse). After the rejection by the USA of the decision in 1986, Nicaragua had referred the matter to the Security Council pursuant to Article 94(2) of the Charter. Here the United States vetoed a resolution calling on all states to observe international law! In the General Assembly a call for compliance with the ICJ ruling was passed by 94-3 with only Israel and EI Salvador supporting the USA and a year later passed a resolution calling for "full and immediate compliance" with the ICJ decision, with only the USA and Israel voting against.

As will be well known, US policy towards Nicaragua finally bore fruit, with the electorate ultimately persuaded that the realities of the world meant that an acceptance of American hegemony was preferable to the level of suffering which resistance brought. Predictably, health care has declined, infant mortality has risen, and disparities in wealth continue to increase. The ICJ case is a continuing reminder that legal victory is illusory unless there is both consent and co-operation from the disappointed party, or the international community is willing and able to insist upon compliance.

What conclusions may be drawn regarding the significance of this case in an understanding of international law? The first repeats that while legal method allows for the de-politicisation of a dispute, the price paid might be that the legal decision will not be seen as a real resolution to the problem. Secondly, it has become clear through the writings of textbooks that for lawyers the judgment of the Court is an end in itself. The decision is significantly more important than the illusory nature of the relief granted and the aggression directed towards Nicaragua. Thirdly, it may be seen that the ability of the law to resolve disputes in favour of the powerless is always dependent upon the acquiescence of the powerful. This does have implications for the rule of law in the international arena.

Interestingly, in Moynihan's wonderfully indignant book, *On the law of nations*, his indignation is not directed at the foreign policy of the USA but rather at its inability to achieve - or to attempt to achieve - goals in a manner which is consistent (or at least arguably consistent) with international law. It is not the attempt to remove the Sandinistas from power with which he disagrees, but the patent illegality of the methods used in that attempt. Like Richard Nixon he clearly believes that international law is an important weapon in the armoury of a powerful nation, particularly where the use of force is impractical or undesirable. That the USA had usefully used the ICJ in seeking the return of the US diplomatic and consular staff being held hostage in Iran in violation of several international treaties seems to add weight to his views.

In the *Case Concerning US Diplomatic and Consular Staff in Iran (USA* V. *Iran)* [1979] ICJ Reports 7, the US had, within two weeks of applying to the ICJ, received a provisional order establishing that the rights of the USA had been violated and that the government of Iran should restore the embassy to the USA and release the hostages. Although not immediately complied with, there is no doubt that the finaldecision had put the USA itself in a position, pursuant to Article 94 of the Charter, to refer the matter to the Security Council. Moynihan's viewthat had the Security Council not then taken action, the United States itself would have been entitled to, is certainly arguably correct. (Here of course there was no fear of a veto.)

Self-Assessment Exercise

What is the significance of the decision of *Nicaragua* V. USA for international law?

(See Feedback at the end of this unit).

In conclusion, in some ways, using *Nicaragua* V. *USA* to exemplify the use of the ICJ in contentious cases might be argued to be misleading. This was, after all, one of the few cases where the Court's ruling had been rejected with impunity and without direct sanction. But the advantages of its use outweigh the disadvantages. It highlights both the possibilities and the limitations of the judicial method of international dispute resolution.

What pertinent generalisations may one then make about the ICJ?

The first is that because of the nature of sovereignty and the reality of power, the legal method of adjudication is inherently unlikely to be effective unless the parties have agreed to this form of settlement. As we have seen, they are only rarely likely to do so.

The acceptance of compulsory jurisdiction, accepted by fewer than 50 states, and then very often with significant reservations, has not proved successful, and with states which had accepted compulsory jurisdiction feeling able to withdraw acceptance when decisions of which they disapproved were made (as in the case of the USA and France), it is unlikely to increase. Theoretically at least, this should be bad news for states with little power. For them the great advantage of legal adjudication should have been that in translating international agreements into legal argument, the reality of the physical disparities in power between the disputants should have been irrelevant. This indeed was what happened in *Nicaragua* V. *USA*, but although the power was irrelevant in the adjudication, it was critical in the inability to give effect to the decision. This fact, together with the very Western jurisprudence and methodology of the Court, makes it unlikely that poor states willfind the justice they think they deserve in the United Nations judicial organ.

2.4 Summary

Adjudication in contentious cases before the ICJ is not always successful. To be so the parties must not only accept the jurisdiction of the Court but be ready to accept an adverse decision. These requirements are highlighted in *Nicaragua* V. *USA*, where not only did one party refuse to accept the jurisdiction of the Court but it also had sufficient power to be able to resist the judgment. This suggests that particular features are necessary for effective adjudication.

2.5 References/Further Reading/Web Resources

- Kaczorowska, Chapter 15: Peaceful Settlement of Disputes between States, pp.382-40 1.
- Moynihan, D.P. (1990). *On the Law of Nations*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press. [ISBN 0674635760].
- Chomsky, N. (1994). *World Orders, Old and New*. London: Pluto Press. [ISBN 0745313205].
- Cases: Nicaragua V. United States (Jurisdiction) [1984] ICJ Reports 392; Nicaragua V. United States (Merits)[1986] ICJ Reports 14; Case Concerning Armed Activities on the Territory of the Congo (Democratic Republic of the Congo V. Uganda ICJ, 19 December 2005 <u>http://www.icj</u> cij.org/icjwww/idocket/ico/ico_judgments/ico_judgment_200512

2.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

Nicaragua V. *USA* highlights and exemplifies several features of international judicial adjudication. It is important for its discussion of reciprocity in the terms in which the ICJ's compulsory jurisdiction is accepted. It is important in its discussion of the relationship between customary international law and treaty law.

Most importantly it considers the meaning of the prohibition on the threat or use of force in international law, the inherent right of self- defence and the principle of non-intervention. Unfortunately, just as importantly it demonstrates the limitations of judicial power in the face of an intransigent and powerful state. This in turn emphasises the need for state consent if judgments are to be effective.

UNIT 3 THE ADVISORY JURISDICTION OF THE ICJ

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 3.1 Introduction
- 3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 3.3 Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons Case
 - 3.3.1 Advisory Opinion on the Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory
 - 3.3.2 International Arbitration
- 3.4 Summary
- 3.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 3.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

3.1 Introduction

We shall look at the advisory jurisdiction of the ICJ, exemplified by the Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons Case and the Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory Case. We shall also look at international arbitration.

3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the role and scope of the ICJ's advisory jurisdiction
- explain the possibilities and limitations of arbitration in international dispute resolution

• discuss advantages and disadvantages of arbitration as opposed to judicial settlement.

3.3 Legality of The Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons Case

The second case to be used to illustrate points concerning the ICJ is concerned with the legality of the threat or use of nuclear weapons in which judgment was given in 1996. This was an advisory opinion given pursuant to Article 65 of the Statute of the ICJ which allows authorised bodies of the United Nations (primarily the Security Council and the General Assembly, but also other organs of the UN if authorised by the General Assembly) to request an opinion on any legal question. In this case both the World Health Organisation (WHO) and the General Assembly had separately asked questions concerning the legality of the threat or use of nuclear weapons. The question posed by the WHO was asked particularly at the behest of Pacific state members and was framed as follows: In view of the health and environmental effects, would the use of nuclear weapons by a State in war or other armed conflict be a breach of its obligations under international law including the WHO Constitution?

The majority of the 14 judges of the ICJ decided, for reasons that will be addressed shortly, that the WHO did not have competence to seek such an advisory opinion.

The General Assembly question was asked in a resolution of 1994. It simply asked:

Is the threat or use of nuclear weapons in any circumstances permitted under international law?

The majority of the Court was prepared to entertain this question. No doubt readers of a legal training will already have begun to ask questions of the "So what?" kind. That is, they will be asking what the practical consequences of the Court's decision would be, whatever was decided. If the Court was to answer in the negative, was it really conceivable that states possessing nuclear weapons such as Israel or Pakistan, let alone the major nuclear powers, would surrender their nuclear weapons for destruction, accepting that they could neither be used nor threatened to be used? Accepting the improbable nature of this outcome, what if anything was to be gained by a legal answer to a legal question which was so isolated from political reality?

The answer to this is to be found in the impressive submission of the Pacific states brought together in a book entitled: *The case against the bomb* (Clark, R.S. (ed.), Newark, NJ: Rutgers University School of Law, 1996 [ISBN 0965557804]). One reason for formulating the WHO question was that some of the Pacific states are members of the WHO but not the United Nations - a position dictated by financial considerations and expenditure constraints. The small Pacific states feel themselves extremely vulnerable to things nuclear. Not only has muchof the testing of nuclear weapons by the USA, France and the UK taken place in the Pacific, but also many of the smallest states, because of theirsize and limited elevation above sea-level, are sensitive toenvironmental change in a way that larger states are not.

Within the Court there were some judges, particularly Judge Oda from Japan, who seemed to feel that the question posed was really an attempt to force the court to become a vehicle by which a political point could be made. This view was arguable. It is correct in that it recognised that a decision in favour of illegality could not, of itself, alter the "defence" policies of those states with nuclear capability; but it is wrong to imagine that such a decision would either "open the floodgates" toinnumerable

questions or, more importantly, be inconsequential. Its effect would be to reinforce with law the arguments of those who wanted the inherent immorality and inhumanity of weapons of immense mass destruction to be recognised and acted upon.

This is yet again an example of the legal method of translation. All those involved in the case knew that what was being argued in fact, though not in law, was whether the possession and potential use of nuclear weapons could be justified - but not justified in law, or not only law but also in reality. Here was a political question *par excellence;* political in the sense of being imbued with policy. Debates on this policy have been prolonged and bitter both between states with and without nuclear weapons and within states with and without nuclear weapons. Movements for compulsory nuclear disarmament have a history which begins almost with the first nuclear explosion. Their success has, however, been limited by their inability to gain democratic mandate for disarmament.

Given that every member of the Court was aware of this reality, it is not surprising that some felt discomfited with the problem's presentation as a legal one. Nor is it surprising that the decision of the Court was neither unanimous nor consistent. The refusal of the majority to accept the WHO question for opinion must be seen in this light. Significantly too, in the advisory opinion that was given, views were very different. Generalised to the greatest possible extent it may be put in the words of Professor R.S. Clark (Counsel for Samoa in the case), when he says of the ICJ opinion:

While the opinion strongly reflects the argument made on behalf of the Pacific coalition, what those States would have liked was a statement that the use or threat of use of nuclear weapons is illegal per se (illegalin itself), any time any place.

Three of the 14 judges - Judges Weeramantry (Sri Lanka), Koroma (Sierra Leone), and Shahabuddeen (Guyana) - said exactly that. Seven more -Judges Bedjaoui (Algeria, the President of the Court), Ranjeva (Madagascar), Herczegh (Hungary), Ski (China), Fleischhauer (Germany), Vereshchetin (Russia) and Ferrari Bravo (Italy) - said that it would "generally" be contrary to the laws of war to use or threaten to use nuclear weapons. These judges were not sure, however, whether such a use "would be lawful or unlawful in an extreme circumstance of self-defence, in which the very survival of a State would be at stake". Four judges - Judges Schwebel (United States), Oda (Japan), Guillaume (France) and Higgins (United Kingdom) - disagreed with both of these positions. While they conceded that a threat or use of nuclear weapons could be made only when it was compatible with the requirements of international law applicable to armed conflict, they believed that each individual case has to be considered against the relevant standards and that no general rule is possible.

It is difficult not to infer, except in the cases of the judges from Sri Lanka, Sierra Leone and Guyana, that the judges were not entirelyhappy with what they had been called upon to answer. The result was a cynical reception by at least some observers. The title of Professor Vaughan Lowe's note in one legal journal (ICLQ) sums up much of the response: "Shock decision: nuclear weapons mayor may not be illegal". The Court must also have been unhappy with the way in which it divided, as, although there is no complete correlation, the division does not seem to reflect the independence of the 15 judges. Rather, but not exactly, the differences reflect the different attitudes of states with no nuclear capability and no prospect of it or even the "protection" of a nuclear power's umbrella, at one extreme; and states with nuclear capability or concerned with the protection it supposedly offers at the other. It may not be entirely coincidental that two of the judges (Judge Weeramantry and Judge Shahabuddeen) most adamantly in favour of the law clearly declaring the illegality of the threat or use of nuclear weapons were exceptionally not re-elected to the Court.

a. Advisory Opinion on the Legal Consequences of the Construction of a Wall in the Occupied Palestinian Territory

To further exemplify the process of advisory opinions we will briefly consider the recent case in which the General Assembly called upon the ICJ, in a resolution of 8 December 2003, "to urgently render an advisory opinion on the legal consequences arising from the construction of the wall being built by Israel, in the occupied Palestinian territories, including in and around East Jerusalem, considering the rules and principles of international law". The resolution arose from the decision by the Israeli government to construct what they claimed was a defensive wall which would enable them to protect themselves from violence coming into Israel from the occupied West Bank. The intended wall did not however follow the "Green Line" which was the Israeli boundary before the conquests of 1967. Rather it cut, sometimes deeply, into the occupied land and also cut off some Palestinians from access to their land. As was made clear in Module 1, the acquisition of title to territory by force or conquest is clearly not allowed in international law. (Since the United Nations Charter this has been unarguable.)

Not surprisingly the Court was robust in its opinion. Only the American Judge Buergenthal voted against all of the conclusions of the otherwise generally unanimous Court. However, he did so not because he considered the wall lawful but because he was of the opinion that the Court should have declined jurisdiction unless it could take into account all of the evidence relating to what he referred to as "Israel's legitimate right of self-defence". In the view of most commentators such a consideration would have been relevant only if the wall being constructed followed the Green Line scrupulously. Further, consideration would in any case have been impossible as Israel elected not to appear before the Court to provide evidence to support its contentions. (As this was an advisory opinion Israel was within its rights to choose this course of action.) In fact, of those states making submissions to the Court, 22 did argue that the political nature of thecase suggested that the ICJ was an inappropriate forum. The Court was not persuaded.

The Court's decision was that the construction of the wall being built by Israel, the occupying power in the Occupied Palestinian Territory, was contrary to international law; that Israel was under an obligation to terminate its breaches of international law and to cease construction immediately; that Israel had an obligation to make reparation for all damage caused; that all States are under an obligation not to recognise the illegal situation and have an obligation, while respecting the UN Charter, to ensure compliance by Israel with international humanitarian law as embodied in the Fourth Geneva Convention; and that the UN should consider what further action is required to bring the illegal situation arising from the construction of the wall to an end.

In-Text Question

Is there any point in giving decisions without direct consequence?

The reasoning of the Court was in three parts. The first considered whether the request for opinion should be accepted, the second considered the legality of the construction of the wall, and the third considered the legal consequences of the breaches found. On the first point the Court found it proper to give an opinion as it had been legitimately requested by the General Assembly after the US had vetoed a Security Council resolution concerning the construction of the wall. Further it said that here it was not exercising its advisory jurisdiction ina way which effectively adjudicated upon a dispute between Israel and Palestine. The question was wider and of importance to the UnitedNations as a whole. The Court also rejected the contention of somestates that its opinion could impede a political, negotiated settlement to the conflict and found no compelling reason precluding it from giving the requested opinion. The Court had little difficulty in concluding that the construction of the wall was contrary to international law. Indeed it seemed to contravene every rule of international law that the Court considered. Further, it held that Israel could not rely on either a right of self-defence or a state of necessity in order to preclude the wrongfulness of the construction of the wall.

The question of legal consequences was more interesting. The Court observed that its opinion now allowed the General Assembly and the United Nations generally to use it as it wished - that is, it could be used as authority for General Assembly conclusions consistent with it. As we saw above, however, it did suggest that the consequences placed an obligation on Israel to cease the building of the wall and to make reparation. The obligation for other states was to not recognise theillegal situation and not to provide any aid or assistance in maintaining the illegal situation. In addition they should seek compliance with the Fourth Geneva Convention. The UN, it was said, should give further consideration to action intended to bring to an end the illegal situation resulting from the construction of the wall. Israel immediately denounced the opinion and indicated that it intended to ignore it.

There has seldom been such an adamant and explicit advisory opinion. It was of course a moral victory for those opposed to Israeli action, but was it more? Shortly after the judgment the General Assembly voted overwhelmingly to demand that Israel accept the opinion and ceasework on the wall and do as the Court had suggested international law required. The resolution was passed by 150 states in favour, 10 abstentions and 6 against. Those against were Australia, the Federated States of Micronesia, Israel, the Marshall Islands, Tuvalu and the UnitedStates. On 10 July 2005, the Israeli cabinet approved the construction of the wall in Jerusalem and stated that the entire wall was to be completed as intended with only minor modification as required by the Israeli Court.

Politically it would be unrealistic to have expected an ICJ advisory opinion to have resolved the dispute between the Palestinians and Israel. Nevertheless the strength of feeling both from the Court and from the General Assembly might have been expected to give Israel pause for thought. So far there is no indication that it has done so. An authoritative statement of international law has been ignored by those who were able to ignore it. And while advisory opinions may on occasion provide a political forum for political points to be made and they may reinforce moral positions, in time their efficacy is crucially limited in the face of resistance from rich and powerful states.

Self-Assessment Exercise 1

What arguments may be made for the use of the advisory jurisdiction of the ICJ? What are the consequences, theoretical and real, that flow from such a decision? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

Self-Assessment Exercise 2

Is there any point in giving decisions without direct consequence?

b. International Arbitration

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 15: *Peaceful Settlement of Disputes between States*, pp.366-76.

Dixon, Chapter 10: The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes, pp.264-67.

Cassese, Chapter 14: *Promoting Compliance with Law and Preventing or Settling Disputes*, pp.281-88.

International arbitration has been defined by the International Law Commission as "a procedure for the settlement of disputes between States by a binding award on the basis of law and as a result of an undertaking voluntarily accepted". You will notice that this definition of arbitration in international law is significantly narrower than the common meaning of arbitration. The crucial difference between judicial settlement and arbitration lies in the role played by the parties to the dispute and the degree of control they can exercise over the process. Arbitration allows the parties to select the tribunal, whereas parties have no control over the composition of a judicial body. In addition, in arbitration the parties may decide the law to be applied while the applicable law in the International Court is always the principles of international law.

The modern history of arbitration began with procedures established in 1794 under the Jay Treaty between the United States and United Kingdom for the settlement of bilateral disputes. This provided for the creation of mixed Commissions, to which each state nominated an equalnumber of members with an umpire. In 1871 in an innovatory move, arbitration took place concerned to determine breaches of neutrality by Britain during the American Civil War. What was novel was that not only were there British and American nominees but there were also three independent nominees from other states (Brazil, Switzerland and Italy). Following the 1899 Convention on the Pacific Settlement ofInternational Disputes an institution known as the Permanent Court of Arbitration was created (actually, as international lawyers like to observe, neither permanent, nor a court) whose organisation and composition was modified in 1907. The Permanent Court of Arbitration is still in existence. Relying as does the ICJ upon the consent of the states that use it, it actually has some features often preferred to the International Court of Justice.

Each of the contracting parties is entitled to nominate up to four persons to be members of the PCA panel (there are more than 300 nominated from some 90 states). Any of these may be selected by the parties forany particular dispute. Once the parties to a dispute have agreed to arbitration they must agree a compromise. In essence this is an instrument that contains the agreement to arbitrate and will specifyagreements as to the form the arbitration is to take. Thus it will name theselected arbitrators, define the questions the tribunal is to address, define the law and procedure that is to be applied, and state the period within which the award is to be made. Model rules exist as a basis for the drafting of the compromise.

Arbitration awards are usually binding and final except in the event of some substantial procedural error, or manifest error of fact. Should an appeal be possible and successful, the result will be to render the award of the tribunal null and void.

Although the use of arbitration is not extensive (there seem to be a much larger number of members of the Permanent Court of Arbitration available to arbitrate than the number of disputes submitted for arbitration) it is clear that it does have a place. Arbitration is possible in some disputes between a state and an individual. Thus the Convention on the Settlement of Investment Disputes between States and Nationals of Other States, 1965 makes conciliation and arbitration possible (with consent) between contracting parties and companies of the nationality of another contracting party. And perhaps the best known arbitralsettlement of private claims of nationals has been the Iran-United States Claims Tribunal.

A perusal of the current and recent claims at the Permanent Court seems to imply that in disputes between states, those most likely to be arbitrated are disputes between states generally otherwise enjoying closerelations. There is also a close relationship between the ICJ and the PCA which is more than physical (both having homes in The Hague) and almost half the judges of the ICJ are also among the more than 300 members of the PCA available as arbitrators. In conclusion, international arbitration under the Permanent Court of Arbitration is "quasi-judicial" but provides parties who have consented to arbitration with significant control over the selection of arbitrators and over the procedure and law to be applied. While there are nevertheless fewer cases than might be anticipated, this is again because of the shortcomings of a process where parties must undertake to accept a result which is uncertain.

3.4 Summary

The advisory jurisdiction of the ICJ has often given rise to cases in which political considerations made the isolation of legal issues difficult. Nevertheless the Court has determined that a mixed question of law and fact does amount to a legal question. And as Dixon observes (p. 288) the Court is not concerned with "the motives for a request, even if these are political". This does however affect the effect of the decision.

3.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

- *Legality of the Threat or Use of Nuclear Weapons* [1996] ICJReports 66.
- Palestinian Wall Advisory Opinion [2004] ICJ Reports. See: http://www.icj-cij.org/icjwww/idocket/imwp/imwpframe.htm
- Kaczorowska, Chapter 15: Peaceful Settlement of Disputes between States. pp.401-06.
- Dixon, Chapter 10: *The Peaceful Settlement of Disputes*, pp.285-88. Articles 65-68 of the Statute of the International Court of Justice.

3.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

No doubt when the Charter and the Statute of the International Court were drafted it was envisaged that it would be important, particularly for the institutions of the United Nations, to be able to obtain legal opinions that would clarify legal questions that might arise as to the scope of their duties and obligations. This was also true with regard to the scope of the rights, duties and obligations of states given to them in the Charter. Such a narrow interpretation of legal questions that might arise did not survive for long.

It became clear that such purely legal questions, as for instance were addressed in the *Certain Expenses Case*, were much less common than legal questions with obvious political overtones and implications. But the Court has held that the mere fact that there are political aspects to the question asked does not mean that it should not be answered. Even if the effects of such judgments are less than the Court might hope, it has to be remembered that advisory opinions are not binding but do carry considerable influence. It may be argued that even if this is the extent of the effect of a decision, it is of relevance to the body requesting the opinion. Even in the *Palestinian Wall Case* the effect has been that no one seriously argues that Israel's wall building is anything other than illegal. In the longer term this may prove to be important.

78

MODULE 3

Unit 1	Human Rights in International Law
Unit 2	The International Bill of Human Rights
Unit 3	Principal International Human Rights Treaties

UNIT 1 HUMAN RIGHTS IN INTERNATIONAL LAW

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 1.1 Introduction
- 1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 1.3 What are Human Rights?
 - 1.3.1 The Politics of Human Rights
- 1.4 Summary
- 1.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

1.1 Introduction

There is a popular view that there is a world of difference between theorising about human rights and drafting grand charters, covenants and conventions on the one hand, and actually working to ameliorate the unnecessary suffering of mankind on the other. It remains true that it is almost impossible to judge the effect (if any) of the work and effort manifested in many human rights documents, particularly those emanating from the United Nations. This fact should alert us to the realisation that the concept of human rights is something more than agreed means by which the quality of life of individuals is to be improved. Underlying the apparently neutral and uncontroversial phrase "human rights" is a foment of philosophical and political ideas and disagreements that makes it remarkable that any consensus has ever been reached.

This Module begins with a discussion of what meaning can be attributed to the phrase "human rights": how they might be defined, by whom and with what significance. This might seem superfluous in a module on the international law of human rights, but it is not. As we will see, one of the primary difficulties international law has had in enforcing human rights arises from difficulties in achieving accepted definitions. Having observed these problems we will proceed to consider the politics of human rights. This unit ought to suggest that the way in which different states, different governments and different peoples and religions seek to define human rights depends upon their political perspectives. It will be suggested that the end of the Cold War and the proclaimed triumph of liberal capitalism has directly affected perspectives upon human rights. What this has meant has been much greater emphasis upon so-called civil and political rights, at the expense of economic, social and cultural rights. But of course this distinction itself reflects different political ideologies.

1.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the philosophical problems in defining human rights
- explain that an understanding of what human rights are and theirorder of priority is always political.

1.3 What are human rights?

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: *The International Protection of Human Rights*, pp.263-304.

Cassese, Chapter 19: *The Protection of Human Rights*, pp.375-98.Dixon, Chapter 12: *Human Rights*, pp.32-37.

Practical lawyers might question the need for this section, and the next. Here we are attempting to provide an understanding of the meaning of human rights without which any appraisal of the role and effect of the international law of human rights is impossible. It is of course very difficult to isolate the concept of human rights from international law in general and it will be argued that the two are not really separable. The political and ideological world that dictates international law also defines the reality of human rights. In this section there are two separate but related questions that need to be raised. The first requires us to understand what is meant by "human rights" and the second considers whether they must be seen as time and culture specific, or whether they are, as is generally asserted, universal. The answers to these questions have significant implications.

As to the first question, it is immediately clear that the concept of human rights has close links with natural law - the theory that argues that beyond the laws created by people there are natural or divine laws with which created laws must conform. With a divine explanation there canbe no rational debate. Religion is about faith and not susceptible to either proof or disproof through reason. The US Declaration of Independence of 1776 stated the natural law assertion in these terms:

We hold these truths to be self-evident: That all men are created equal; that they are endowed by their Creator with certain unalienable rights; that among these are life, liberty, and the pursuit of happiness;...

Such an assertion of divine law is however only possible where the constituency to which it is addressed is less than religiously diverse. Clearly when the UDHR was being drafted not all participants would have accepted such a statement - and certainly not the USSR with its state commitment to atheism. The alternative that was adopted was to make an attempt at a secular assertion of natural rights (arguably something of a paradox), namely with the paragraph:

Whereas recognition of the inherent dignity and of the equal and inalienable rights of all members of the human family is the foundation of freedom, justice and peace in the world...

There are some problems with such an approach. It is an assertion without evidence and is simply unprovable. On the other hand it may be argued that the authority of the UDHR derives not from the dubious appeal to reason but from the agreement of the international community, notwithstanding the eight abstentions. It is this agreement that replaces the divinity in the document.

Additionally there can be no doubt that "human rights" exist as a social fact. By this I mean that although quite **how** anything may be proved to be a human right remains unresolved, the reality is that human rights obtain their meaning from the fact that they receive constant recognition in the language and effect of international diplomacy and relations.

Self-Assessment Exercise

Is the concept of natural law necessary for a concept of universal human rights? (See*Feedback at the end of this unit*).

The second difficulty in the concept is related to the first. The UDHR describes itself as universal, yet paradoxically almost everyone would agree that as drafted it is clearly time and place specific. It was aresponse to a totalitarian and racist Nazi regime, and the desire to prevent a recurrence of such a phenomenon underlay the post-war reaction. Furthermore, although its provisions may seem largelyunexceptionable, some, particularly those directed to economic rights, certainly would not find favour with many post-Cold War governments in the West. As Cassese observes (p.381):

On the whole, the view of human rights expressed in it is Western. More space and importance are allotted to civil and political rights than to economic, social, and cultural rights, and no mention at all is made of the rights of peoples. The position taken with regard to colonised peoples, who had been partially or completely denied their right tofreedom, was purely formal. Nor did the Declaration say anything specific about economic inequalities between States (although today many commentators cite with increasing frequency Article 28 whereby "Everyone is entitled to an international and social order in which the rights and freedoms set forth in the Declaration can be fully realised"). In addition one could note that the Declaration did not consider the fact that some States, being underdeveloped, faced special problems when trying to guarantee certain basic rights, such as those to work, to education, to suitable housing etc.

Consequently there has been a continuing debate between so-called "cultural relativists" and "universalists", with the former arguing that the concept of human rights must necessarily differ in different cultures (hence nothing can be written in stone as irrevocably permanent) and the latter that the concept of **human** rights makes sense only if they are granted to all individuals regardless of culture and because only of their membership of the human race. The former seems reasonable but the latter desirable.

The conclusion (with which you may reasonably disagree) is that this debate is less important than it might seem. It will only seem crucial if one believes that the concept of human rights carries with it some "magical" quality over and beyond existence as social fact. In my view the importance of the concept lies in the weight implied by international acceptance of the appellation, and much of the struggle for human rights is about seeking this acceptance.

This seems particularly clear with so-called 'third generation rights' (the first generation rights being civil and political rights and the second, economic, social and cultural rights - though this designation itself may be seen as political). Third generation rights are said to include group rights as opposed to individual rights, exemplified by the claimed right to development and the right to self-determination. In my view, whatever the objections to these rights being described as "human rights" (and there are many), once there is overwhelming acceptance by the international community that they are human rights, it makes little sense to oppose the categorisation. For further argument on this point see Mansell, W. and J. Scott *Why Bother about a Right to Development?*

In-text Question 1

Why do some people argue that cultural relativism undercuts the whole subject of human rights and why do others think it inconsequential?

1.3.1 The Politics of Human Rights

Essential Reading

Dixon, Chapter 12: Human Rights, pp.320-23.

The protection of human rights is often portrayed as an objectively desirable and politically neutral goal. For many of us this position is unexceptionable and the thought that the protection of human rights is imbued with political premises and ideology seems inherently unreasonable. Yet such is the case. The promotion of human rights is often portrayed (at least in the West) as one of the gifts of democratic states to those less fortunate. As was argued in the last section, the history of human rights is not nearly as extended as it is often suggested. The contemporary emphasis upon human rights scarcely predates the Second World War. It was primarily because of the revulsion and incredulity that a Second World War had come so shortly after the first, that a way of talking about a different world found the language of individual rights useful.

The UDHR was very largely the product of the victorious allies, and particularly the work of the USA. But it was not an isolated project. At the end of the War the USA had laid plans for the world it hoped to see. This was one confirming economic liberalism and creating international financial institutions to encourage free trade and a "United Nations" (originally to have been called "Associated Powers") to provide global security and stability. Human right was but one aspect of this overall plan, even if it did provide "the moral foundation". The preparation of the UDHR was not, even then, an easy matter.

There were three obvious problems and many more less obvious ones. The first of the obvious was that the disparity in ideological outlook between the first world and the second (including the so-called socialist states of the USSR) in terms of the centrality of the individual with civil and political rights seemed insuperable. The second was that for states with an Islamic population (in this case, Saudi Arabia) the idea of a right to change religion was unacceptable and indeed the very idea of a Universal Declaration seemed incompatible with the supremacy of the Koran. The third was that for a state such as South Africa, a right of participation in government and free movement of people was unacceptable (let alone the prohibition on discrimination). Nevertheless the Declaration was accepted by the General Assembly in Paris in 1948 by a vote of 48 for, none against and eight abstentions (the Soviet Bloc, Saudi Arabia and South Africa).

In retrospect, however, what seems most remarkable in the document was the inclusion of what would come to be known as economic and social rights. Amazingly these provisions received the support of (as Kirsten Sellars puts it) "everyone from Soviet Stalinists and Latin American socialists to British Keynesians and American Democrats" (p.21). These provisions, which will be considered in the next section, would, in the twenty-first century, enjoy very little popular support in the governments of states pursuing a liberal economic agenda. Theirvery presence had repercussions that were unforeseen.

The objectivity of the concept of human rights was almost immediately called into question by the purposes to which human rights discourse was being put. Human rights debate became largely determined by the propaganda advantages that either party to the Cold War could gain from it.

The earliest days of the United Nations were clearly dominated by the victorious allies of the Second World War. Their status lent them a moral superiority which they exploited in the organisation. Even then however there were crucial ideological battles between the US and its allies and the Soviet Union and its allies. Probably to the surprise of Western delegates they found it difficult to hold the high ground of protecting civil and political human rights in the face of concerted opposition. Their superiority was attacked both by the "second" socialist world and the "third" (poor) world, initially from two directions.

Colonialism came to be vilified, as the proclaimed right of selfdetermination gained prominence and dominance. Colonialism also came to be identified with something approaching racism-white colonial masters and non-white colonial peoples. In the 1950s and 1960s respect for civil and political rights was tempered by this reality and by the emphasis placed by the so-called socialist states upon economic rights supposedly directed to ensuring the security of individuals in their ability to acquire food and housing.

The end of the Cold War and the demise of the USSR together with the end of the process of decolonisation very clearly altered human rights rhetoric in the corridors of power. As free market economics and its accompanying ideology gained ascendancy, so economic rights declined, at least in so far as they were incompatible with the policies sanctioned, blessed and often insisted upon by the international financialinstitutions. The African Charter on Human and Peoples' Rights, 1981, with its emphasis upon social duties and peoples' rights based upon collective community interest, is barely compatible with the new orthodoxy.

Thus, a first conclusion about the politics of human rights must be that the subjects of popularity are negotiable depending upon competing or dominant ideologies. The popular economic rights represented in a claimed right to a New International Economic Order, or even a human right to development, now seem hopelessly unfashionable. Need has not changed, but the way in which it is talked about certainly has.

In-text Question 2

What, if anything, do you think are the significant differences between civil and political rights on the one hand, and economic social and cultural rights on the other?

Another fact that is inferable from the above is that a state's rhetoric (the way it talks) about human rights will reflect its own political ideology. This is obvious but important. There is a clear tension between the proclaimed universality of human rights and the particularity with which they are chosen. Liberal democratic states such as the United States and many countries within Western Europe placed emphasis upon the civil and political rights exemplified in the European Convention on Human Rights. The social provisions found within the Universal Declaration were considered inappropriate for comparable protection or even recognition. Such states effectively either ignored collective rights (as in the case of the United States), or to a large extent merely paid them lip service (as is the case of the signatories of the European Social Charter). The view that came implicitly to be promulgated was that civil and political rights were legal and "justiciable", while others were at best desirable, and at worst utopian or even counter-productive because of their threat to the perceived productive free market economy.

Collectivist states, of course, attempted to counter these views by asserting the importance of distributive justice and the need to ensure the participation of individuals in the collective life of the state. Regrettably, though a level of security was provided for citizens by many states (a fact which has come to be accepted only since the declinein the living standards of the poorest people living in the former USSR), such were the feelings of insecurity of those governments that the governed could not be trusted with the civil and political rights which were portrayed as incompatible with a "socialist" property regime.

Meanwhile, with the rise of the so-called Asian Tiger Economies, a third perspective on human rights protection was developed. This suggested that the protection of individual civil liberties might be incompatible with the needs of development. Malaysia in particular took the view that'the Asian tradition' led to positions on human rights which could not be reconciled even with the Universal Declaration. If these arguments seem manifestly specious to the cynical among us, and designed only tojustify willful human rights abuses, this is less important (for a sense of comprehension of the human rights world) than the recognition that these arguments reflect a particular power structure with particular goals. This is a power structure dedicated to economic "progress" (that is, increased economic growth) both for its own sake and for the sake of national pride. (It is of course ironic that this latter ambition is itself evidence of continuing feelings of insecurity, if not inferiority.) Whether or not such "progress" is ever adversely affected by protecting such rights as those concerned with freedom of speech or freedom from rbitrary detention remains highly questionable.

Power and Law in the UN

Another factor in the politics of human rights has been the distinction in the effectiveness of international institutions between institutions operating under the principle of sovereign equality, and hence one vote per nation (the General Assembly), and institutions where the power of each voting state affects the strength of its vote (the Security Council with its five permanent members, or the International Monetary Fund or the World Bank where votes are weighted in accordance with economic strength). As the numbers in the General Assembly grew, so General Assembly Resolutions became increasingly independent of the wishes of the great powers. Interests diverged with the interests and preoccupations of the "underdeveloped" newly admitted states being very different to those of the majority of founder members. This in turn affected the status of General Assembly Resolutions. One writer (McWhinney, E) writing just as the Cold War came to an end, pertinently observed:

The Third World majority in the United Nations, and their supporting jurists, argued that the General Assembly resolutions - adopted, as they invariably were, by overwhelming majorities, with only a few Western states holding out in the form of negative votes or abstention - effectively made new law. UN General Assembly resolutions would qualify, thereby, as new sources of international law, side by side with traditional or classical sources. As an abstract, *a priori*, legal issue, this debate over the new sources remains unsolved. Western and Sovietjurists have conceded, equally, that resolutions of the General Assembly, if adopted unanimously

or at least with substantial inter-systemic consensus - Western bloc, Soviet bloc and Third World [written before the demise of the Soviet Union] - may acquire normative legal quality intheir own right. This has clearly become the case by now, with most of the General Assembly resolutions on decolonisation, and self- determination of peoples, sovereignty over natural resources, and nuclear and general disarmament, however intransigent the last-ditch resistance of predominantly Western members may have been at the actual time of their adoption.

This statement now needs to be read with discretion. Although partially true, the failure (in effect though not in passage) of both the Resolution concerning the "New International Economic Order" and that agreeing to a "human right to development", each of which received overwhelming assent, suggests the continuing ability of the West generally and the USA in particular to deny the status of law to unwelcome resolutions. It is certain that mere numerical superiority in terms of votes cast has brought little lawmaking power to the majority. Rather, power has moved decisively to the Security Council wheredemocracy takes second place to the acknowledgement of power - or at least power as it was perceived in 1946.

The role of the General Assembly remains as defined in the Charter: to make recommendations to its Members or to the Security Council (Article 11(1)). Article 12 provides that while the Security Council is exercising in respect of any dispute or situation the functions assigned toit' by the Charter, the General Assembly shall not make any recommendations with regard to that dispute or situation unless theSecurity Council requests it. The power to recommend rather than to decide belongs to the General Assembly. Thus the final ability to define human rights content does not lie with the majority of states.

The International Financial Institutions

But what of the role of the international financial institutions themselves in the politics of human rights? The international financial institutions of the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund, intended to prevent economic recession subsequent international and to promote development, were created in the immediate post-war period outside of the United Nations. If the United Nations was to be the institution promoting friendly relations among nations based upon the principle of sovereign equality, the World Bank and the International Monetary Fund were, even if their aims were no less utopian, founded upon what was seen as hard realism. That they were both to be based in Washington, the seat of US government, was not coincidental. That power within the institutions was not democratically apportioned according to the basis of sovereign equality but according to financial contribution was also

crucial. Finally, the intended use of both institutions to counter totalitarian tendencies, particularly on the left, and even more particularly of communism, among states was not accidental.

Given these facts, it is obvious that poor states, though they may come to, or have to, depend upon these institutions in fact, have little say in how they are run or on the principles upon which they operate. Equally importantly, because many poor states are governed by a political and wealthy elite, the interests of that state may well coincide with those of the greatest international financial institutions even if they are inimical to the interests of the populace as a whole. Either way the effect upon the politics of human rights is significant.

In essence, the objective of the International Monetary Fund (IMF), as formed in 1944 by a treaty entering into force in December 1945, was to avert any new economic recession of the kind which had been so devastating in the 1920s and 30s. To this end, provisions in Article 1 of the IMF's Articles of Agreement in defining its purposes provided that the Fund's aims would include the following:

- (1) To facilitate the expansion and balanced growth of international trade and to contribute thereby to the promotion and maintenance of high levels of employment and real income and to the development of the productive resources of all members as primary objectives of economic policy.
- (2) To promote exchange stability, to maintain orderly exchange agreements among members, and to avoid competitive exchange depreciations...
- (3) To give confidence to members by making the general resources of the Fund temporarily available to them under adequate safeguards, thus providing them with the opportunity to correct maladjustments in their balance of payments without resorting to measures destructive of national or international prosperity.

These objectives seem so innocuous and indeed benign, that it is surprising to discover the tragedies that they have led to, if not actually caused.

It is from this role of the Fund in correcting maladjustments under adequate safeguards that many of the complaints from the poor states stem. From 1980, these "adequate safeguards" have, until recently, taken the form of "structural adjustment lending", an innocuous phrase which has led to endless controversy and no little misery. There is little consensus on the effectiveness of the prescribed measures. The policies prescribed are imbued with a capitalism which eschews state intervention. Thus many of the past policies which at least appeared to make life possible for the poorest section of the population - such as subsidised food, health care and transport - are anathema to the IMF requirements in granting loans to help indebted countries. Structural adjustment has as its goal just one central objective - the elimination of unsustainable indebtedness. The orthodoxy of the IMF is that this can beachieved only in the recognition of the superiority of the market over central economic planning. Evidence for this is, in the view of most cynics of structural adjustment, very difficult to discover. The so-called Pacific tigers, which are often held up as evidence, in fact pursued state- led development - at least initially.

The bottom line, however, is that even had these structural adjustment policies been shown to achieve their limited goal, many might think that the cost of implementation is simply unacceptably high, with the wrong people (the poorest) being effectively called upon to repay loans and deficits which have brought them no benefit whatsoever. Indeed, throughout Latin America and Sub-Saharan Africa and in many states outside those regions, the period of profligate lending for doubtful purposes, benefiting overwhelmingly the political elite, led to crises where the very people who had seen no benefit were called upon to make sacrifices to overcome both debt and deficit. The policies required in structural adjustment were no more and no less than a return to economic liberalism - a policy which had frequently been rejected in order to ensure a level of social cohesion and protection of the poorest.

Thus, when the peoples of the poor nations of the world look at the IMF they see an institution whose purpose is to resolve balance of payment difficulties, instead concentrating its attention upon poor states and making demands of them which effectively ensure that they enforce economic policies which, while clearly not in the interests of their own poor, are just as clearly very much in the interests of those with power within the IMF. The forced opening of the economy to private investment, national or international, allows unrestricted flows of capitalto or from states as the market and profit require. Whatever one's views of economic ideology, what is incontrovertible is the destructive effect of such policies upon the obligation to promote economic, social and cultural rights.

In-text Question 4

Why are international financial institutions of relevance to the international protection of human rights?

As has been seen yet again in the latest round of World Trade

Organisation (WTO) talks, international trade policies have traditionally favoured "developed" economies over "underdeveloped" ones. Primary commodity export is much more vulnerable to fluctuating market prices than manufactured or processed exports. Fluctuating, and often declining, prices made the process of economic planning hazardous in the extreme, necessitating subsequent IMF intervention.

Trade policies are seldom perceived to affect the protection of human rights. This is regrettable. There is an obvious relationship between trade and income, and the terms of world trade will dictate economic policies and investment decisions. Poor countries have enjoyed little autonomy in determining either. In the words of the back cover of Belinda Coote's *The Trade Trap: Poverty and the Global Commodity Markets* we must consider:

...how countries that depend on the export of primary commodities, like coffee or cotton, are caught in a trade trap: the more they produce, the lower the price falls on the international market. If they try to add value to their commodities by processing them, they run into tariff barriers imposed by the rich industrial nations. To make matters worse, theyhave to compete with subsidised exports dumped on the world market by richsurplus producing countries.

The politics of trade, then, affect the political reality of human rights protection. It may begin to be apparent that the politics of international law and human rights may (and should) be seen as intimately connected with economic and political ideology. This will be considered further later.

In conclusion, the question of the philosophical meaning of human rights has preoccupied many, while others have attempted to use the term in order to lend weight to demands. Some have argued that "human rights" must be clearly definable and define both the holders of the rights and those having reciprocal duties to provide them. This reasonable but narrow view, much favoured by Western governments and legal philosophers, receives much less approval from developing states, which have used the phrase to emphasise that their economic demands are demands as of right and not requests for charity.

The problem of meaning can (at least to some extent) be avoided by accepting "human rights" as social facts existing because of belief, but no less real because of this.

1.4 Summary

This unit has challenged the assumption that "human rights" is a

politically neutral concept. The argument is that what dictates the terms of the debate about human rights is very often the political interests and ideology of those making or rejecting demands. In addition we see the importance again of the division between civil and political rights on the one hand and economic rights on the other. It is suggested that the West has been much more concerned with the former while often making protection of the latter exceedingly difficult.

1.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

- McWhinney, E. "International Law" in Hawkesworth, M. & M. Kogan (eds) 2002). *Encyclopedia of Government and Politics* (London: Routledge, [ISBN 0415030927].
- Belinda Coote, (1996). *The Trade Trap: Poverty and the Global Commodity Markets*. Oxford: Oxfam [ISBN 0855981350].
- Mansell, W. & J. Scott (1994). "Why Bother about a Right to Development?" 21 Journal of Law & Society 171.

1.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

Human rights are said to derive their authenticity from the fact that they are universal and belong to every individual simply from the fact of his or her "humanity". This can be seen as related to ideas of natural law but expressed in secular terms. Philosophically there are problems with this idea and many argue that the very idea of human rights itself is aconcept that has arisen in a particular time and in a particular place. The questionable nature of universality can be demonstrated by the reaction of different states to different provisions in the UDHR, and particularly to those concerned with economic rights.

On the other hand, some have argued that such arguments are unnecessary, and that the authority of the concept derives from the agreement of so many states at various post-UN times that human rights are universal and indivisible. Thus they may be both universal (by agreement) and yet relative in that they are not "natural".

UNIT 2 THE INTERNATIONAL BILL OF HUMAN RIGHTS

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 2.1 Introduction
- 2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 2.3 International Bill of Human Rights
 - 2.3.1 Universal Declaration of Human Rights
 - 2.3.2 International Covenants on Human Rights
- 2.4 Summary
- 2.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 2.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

2.1 Introduction

Having provided the background to the international law of humanrights we will next consider the role of the United Nations in the protection of human rights through the "International Bill of Human Rights", that is, the Universal Declaration of Human Rights (UDHR) and the two covenants of 1966: the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) and the International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights (ICESCR).

2.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- explain the meaning and scope of the provisions of the UDHR
- discuss the significance and limitations of the UDHR
- identify the reasons for the drafting of two International Covenantson human rights
- explain the enforcement measures that each Covenant contains.

2.3 The International Bill of Human Rights

Essential Reading

Dixon, Chapter 12: *Human Rights*, pp.325-30. Cassese, Chapter 13: *International Wrongful Acts and the Legal Reaction Thereto*, pp.377-89.

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: *The International Protection of Human Rights,* pp.266-73.

The so-called International Bill of Human Rights came into existence as
a result of the wording of the UN Charter. While the references in the Charter to human rights are limited, they are nevertheless significant and provide the basis for what followed. Its preamble reaffirmed the "faith in fundamental human rights, in the dignity and worth of the human person, in the equal rights of men and women", while among the purposes and principles of the UN (in Article 1(3)) is the following:

to achieve international co-operation in solving international problems of an economic, social, cultural, or humanitarian character, and in promoting and encouraging respect for human rights and for fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion.

This in turn is reinforced by Articles 55 and 56, providing in Article 55:

With a view to the creation of conditions of stability and well-being which are necessary for peaceful and friendly relations among nations based on respect for the principle of equal rights and self-determination of peoples, the United Nations shall promote:

- a. Higher standards of living, full employment, and conditions of economic and social progress and development;
- b. Solutions of international economic, social, health, and related problems; and international cultural and educational cooperation; and
- c. Universal respect for, and observance of, human rights and fundamental freedoms for all without distinction as to race, sex, language, or religion.

Article 56 states that:

All Members pledge themselves to take joint and separate action in cooperation with the Organisation for the achievement of the purposes set forth in Article 55.

Article 55 is noteworthy for the way in which it combines the promotion of human rights and fundamental freedoms with economic and social goals. Article 68, within Chapter X of the Charter setting up the Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC), gives that body the task of establishing commissions in economic and social fields and for the promotion of human rights. Initially it was intended that the Bill of Human Rights should consist of three documents - a declaration, aconvention and a document concerned with implementation. On 10 December 1948 the General Assembly sitting in Paris adopted the UDHR and also asked the Commission on Human Rights (a body created by ECOSOC in 1946) to prepare drafts of the other two documents. From the outset there was an important question of the relationship between proclaimed civil and political human rights and economic, social and cultural rights. As we saw in the last section, the debate wasto a large extent ideological. All agreed that all the rights were interrelated but quite how the relationship was to be incorporated in legal documents was fiercely contested. In the sixth session of the General Assembly (1951/52) it was resolved to request two separate Covenants, one concerning civil and political rights and the other economic, social and cultural rights, but with as much duplication as possible. The Resolution also required an article providing that "all peoples shall have the right of selfdetermination". It was not until 1966 that the drafting of these covenants was complete, and they entered into force almost 10 years later. As at December 2005, the ICCPR had 154 ratifications and the ICESCR 151.

One final general point should be made. While the Charter paved the way for the promotion and protection of human rights, as Kaczorowska points out (p.267) the only human right to explicitly derive directly from the Charter is the right to non-discrimination in the provision and protection of fundamental rights.

2.3.1 The Universal Declaration of Human Rights

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: "The International Protection of Human Rights", pp.267-69.

Cassese, Chapter 19: The Protection of Human Rights, pp.380-82.

The UDHR was explicitly not intended to be a legal document. Nevertheless, because of the disparate nature of the members of the initial United Nations (much less so than now but significant even so, with democratic states, communist states, Islamic states and an apartheidstate) it was still difficult to find words to which all states could agree. Of course because it was merely a Declaration, legal precision was not required these were not articles that a court would have to define. Although Cassese suggests that the task involved finding the lowest common denominator of all states (that is, the things to which all could agree), as we have seen the eight abstentions suggest that success was limited. But the UDHR remains a remarkable document and nearly all states would now argue that it is almost entirely consistent with their aims and aspirations. In retrospect what perhaps seems most surprising is not that the "communist" states merely abstained from, rather than voting against, a Declaration that included many civil and political rights that they obviously had no intention of accepting; but rather that the radical economic, social and cultural rights were acceptable to the United States in particular. Such has been the widespread acceptance of theDeclaration that many of its provisions are regarded as having the status of customary rules, although this was never the intention. In the Proclamation of the Teheran International Conference on Human Rights of 1968 it was unanimously accepted that "the Universal Declaration...states a common understanding of the peoples of the worldconcerning the inalienable and inviolable rights of all members of the human family and constitutes an obligation for the members of theinternational community".

The UN Centre for Human Rights usefully summarises the provisions of the UDHR as follows:

Article 1	All human beings are born free and equal.
Article 2	Everyone is entitled to the same rights without
	discrimination of any kind.
Article 3	Everyone has the right to life, liberty, and security.
Article 4	No one shall be held in slavery or servitude.
Article 5	No one shall be subjected to torture or cruel or degrading
	treatment or punishment.
Article 6	Everyone has the right to be recognised everywhere as a
	person before the law.
Article 7	Everyone is equal before the law and has the right to equal
	protection of the law.
Article 8	Everyone has the right to justice.
Article 9	No one shall be arrested, detained, or exiled arbitrarily.
Article 10	Everyone has the right to a fair trial.
Article 11	Everyone has the right to be presumed innocent until
	proven guilty.
Article 12	Everyone has the right to privacy.
Article 13	Everyone has the right to freedom of movement and to
	leave and return to one's country.
Article 14	Everyone has the right to seek asylum from persecution.
Article 15	Everyone has the right to a nationality.
Article 16	All adults have the right to marry and found a family.
	Women and men have equal rights to marry, within
	marriage, and at its dissolution.
Article 17	Everyone has the right to own property.
Article 18	Everyone has the right to freedom of thought, conscience and religion.
Article 19	Everyone has the right to freedom of opinion and

.

	expression.
Article 20	Everyone has the right to peaceful assembly and association.
Article 21	Everyone has the right to take part in government of one's
	country.
Article 22	Everyone has the right to social security and to the
	realisation of the
	economic, social and cultural rights indispensable for
	dignity.
Article 23	Everyone has the right to work, to just conditions of work,
AT tiele 25	
	to protection against unemployment, to equal pay for
	equalwork, to sufficient pay to ensure a dignified existence
	for one's self and one's family, and the right to join a trade
	union.
Article 24	Everyone has the right to rest and leisure.
Article 25	Everyone has the right to a standard of living adequate for
	health and well-being, including food, clothing, housing,
	medical care and necessary social services.
Article 26	Everyone has the right to education.
Article 27	Everyone has the right to participate freely in the cultural
AT LICIC 27	
	life of the community.
Article 28	Everyone is entitled to a social and international order in
	which these rights can be realised fully.
Article 29	Everyone has duties to the community.
Article 30	No person, group or government has the right to destroy
	any of these rights.

The above summaries are important in order to appreciate the range of lofty ideals expressed and the limitations upon the protections that have been afforded since 1948. As we have suggested already, the economic, social and cultural rights seem to the governments of many Western states to be entirely anachronistic, while many of the civil and political rights are regularly abused by most states.

In- Text Questions

- 1. What is the essence of the distinction between civil and political rights and economic, social and cultural rights?
- 2. What, if anything, is the current legal status of the UDHR?
- 3. Critically consider the provisions of the UDHR. Do you consider them merely time and place specific, or do they have a claim to universal status?

2.3.2 The International Covenants on Human Rights

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: International Protection of Human Rights, pp.269-73.

Cassese, Chapter 19: *The Protection of Human Rights*, pp.382-83. The International Covenants were drafted to give legal effect to the principles contained within the UDHR. The changes in the nature of the drafting committee from when the UDHR was formulated is immediately apparent in the choice of the first article common to both Covenants that asserts a legal human right to self-determination - a right that does not appear, let alone take pride of place in the UDHR. Its primacy reflects the drafting committee's determination that decolonisation and anti-racism (Article 2) be at the forefront of any international human rights concern.

The International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights

The ICCPR guarantees, in addition to those above, rights to life, prohibitions on torture (and cruel, inhuman and degrading treatment or punishment) and slavery, rights to liberty and security of the person, the right to freedom of movement, and rights to freedom of thought, conscience and religion. Because it is a legal document it is possible for a state to derogate from some obligations if there is an emergency threatening the life of the nation (Article 4), but not from those regarded as fundamental. What is of most interest, however, are the means chosen to give legal effect to the provisions. Part IV of the Covenant created the Human Rights Committee consisting of 18 elected independent experts (Article 28). Article 40 gave this Committee the primary task of reviewing state reports (which state parties to the Covenant are obliged to submit every five years) on the "measures they have adopted which give effect to the rights" of the Covenant.

This review provides for the public questioning of state representatives on the content of their reports. Fairly clearly such a procedure leaves itself open to abuse, such as where governments conceal the true state of affairs. The Committee has however developed a practice which allows individual members to receive reports from human rights NGOs and to ask questions based upon that information. After questioning, the Committee will give concluding observations which may well be critical. Having said that, there is little further "enforcement" and states are expected to listen to criticisms and to correct the situation before the next report in five years' time.

Under Article 41 there is a further optional process providing that the Committee may receive and consider complaints from one or more state party against another state party alleging that the state complained of is not fulfilling its obligations under the Covenant. Both the alleging party and the alleged violator must have declared acceptance of this optional process. No applications have yet been made.

More important is the procedure under the First Optional Protocol, ratified by in excess of 100 states. As we will see, this is a pale imitation of the provisions for individual petition contained within the European Convention on Human Rights. The Optional Protocol allows individual communications with regard to alleged violations of the Covenant to the Committee (where the victim is a national of a state party to the Protocol, has exhausted domestic remedies, is not anonymous and the matter is not currently under another procedure of international investigation or settlement). If the Committee decides that the communication is admissible it requests comments from the state concerned and transmits these to the complainant. On the basis of all theinformation submitted, the Committee meets in closed session and forwards its opinion to the complainant and the state. Under Article 42 there may be an *ad hoc* Conciliation Committee with the consent of bothparties but this is the end of the process.

For the sake of completeness it should be added that there is a Second Optional Protocol providing for the abolition of the death penalty in the territory of ratifying states. Forty-six states have ratified (by 2005).

The International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights

If the enforcement measures available under the ICCPR seem extraordinarily weak, they do however seem powerful in comparison with those available under the ICESCR. This Covenant might seem to confirm that economic, social and cultural rights really are the 'children of a lesser God'. The premise that underlies the ICESCR is that these rights are not 'justiciable' and that the appropriate means for securing them is through encouragement while recognising a state's economic constraints. The only supervisory machinery provisions provide for a reporting process. Parties 'shall furnish their reports in stages, in accordance with a programme to be established by the Economic and Social Council within one year of the entry into force of the present Covenant after consultation with the States Parties and the specialised agencies concerned'.

Although ECOSOC has the power to transmit these reports to the UN Commission on Human Rights for scrutiny, in order to make general recommendations "or as appropriate for information", and may "submit to the General Assembly, from time to time, comments of a general nature" on state reports, this extraordinarily inconsequential procedure seems scarcely consistent with the real promotion and protection of human rights.

Perhaps what is illustrated most clearly is that the range of states within the UN is so broad that, difficult though it was to draft the UNDHR, it is almost impossible to draft sensible, legally binding provisions that are relevant to all member states. It is this reality that has encouraged the development of regional protection mechanisms, to which we turn after a brief consideration of other UN human rights treaties.

In conclusion, it is significant that the International Bill of Human Rights is not in the UN Charter. It took 28 years, from 1948 until 1976, before human rightscovenants (legal documents) entered into force. The Charter carried a commitment to the promotion and protection of human rights but mostof the work was left to the Third Committee of the General Assembly and ECOSOC. The UDHR has received a remarkable level of support but with different states emphasising the centrality of different provisions. The intended convention on enforcement was never drafted and such enforcement provisions as there are, are to be found in the two Covenants.

Self- Assessment Exercise

The UDHR essentially gave birth to the treaty on civil and political rights and the treaty on economic and social rights. Do you consider this necessary? (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

2.4 Summary

We considered international bill of Human Rights. You should now be able to:

- Explain the meaning and scope of the provisions of the UDHR;
- Give an account of the significance and limitations of the UDHR;
- Identify the reasons for the drafting of two International Covenants on Human Rights; and
- Explain the enforcement measures that each Covenant contains.

2.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources

The ICCPR is readily available at http://www.ohchr.org/english/law/ccpr.htm

Dixon, M. (2005). *Textbook on International Law* (5th ed.). Oxford:Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199260729].

Cassese, A. (2005). *International Law* (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199259399].

Kaczorowska, A. (2005). *Public International Law* (3rd ed.). London:Old Bailey Press [ISBN 1858366070].

2.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

Human rights belong to human beings by virtue of their humanity. Human rights are indivisible and interrelated and therefore cannot be divided into parts. Civil and political rights and economic and social rights belong to the body of human rights. They cannot be separated into parts. The division into two treaties namely civil and political rights and economic and social rights was as a result of ideological disputations between the east and west during the cold war. It was a division that was not necessary.

UNIT 3 PRINCIPAL INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS TREATIES

UNIT STRUCTURE

- 3.1 Introduction
- 3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes
- 3.3 Other International Human Rights Treaties of the United Nations

3.3.1 Regional Protection of Human Rights

- 3.4 Summary
- 3.5 References/Further Readings/Web Resources
- 3.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise

3.1 Introduction

The UN has also been responsible for promoting a number of other important human rights conventions and these will now be discussed. In turn this gives rise to the question as to why regional regimes of human rights protection should have been necessary to supplement the work of the United Nations. We will conclude that the question of enforcement is central to the law of human rights and this might be more easily achieved on a regional rather than world- wide basis.

The unit will conclude with a discussion of what has been suggested to be a crucial and developing area of human rights concern - that of the form of governance by which a state is ruled. Increasingly the argument has been made that it is only democratic governance that can satisfy human rights demands, and perhaps even that other forms of government should be regarded as of less legitimacy. This is a view that has considerable implications for the law of forceful intervention.

Whatever conclusions we reach on the international law of human rights, one thing should be quite clear. The "rise and rise of human rights" is probably the most startling development in international law since the Second World War. In placing the protection of **individuals** at the heart of international law the old "state-centric" international law has been changed forever. Perhaps the most remarkable effect of this has been on the fundamental concept of sovereignty. In the twenty-firstcentury no state would argue that the question of its treatment of its ownnationals is a matter of only domestic concern. And here the role of non-governmental organisations (NGOs) has also been unprecedented.

3.2 Intended Learning Outcomes

By the end of this unit, you will be able to:

- state the significant achievements of the ECHR in the realm of theprotection of civil and political rights
- describe the nature and scope of the problems facing the ECHRregime in the twenty-first century
- explain the role of the UN in standard setting and drafting humanrights treaties
- explain the need to consult reservations before coming to conclusions about the efficacy of such treaties
- describe the controversial nature of the effectiveness of enforcement
- explain the role of regional regimes in the protection of human rights
- explain the significance of the differences between international and regional protection of human rights
- compare and contrast different regional systems for human rightsprotection
- explain the basis and effect of a claim for the right of democraticgovernance.

3.3 OtherInternational Human Rights Treaties of theUnited Nations

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: International Protection of Human Rights, pp.273-78.

In addition to the International Bill of Human Rights there are a number of other international human rights treaties of the United Nations. Once more, while the texts of the treaties are clear, the effectiveness of their provisions is difficult to assess. The usual response to this problem is to take the treaties at face value, to outline their provisions and to avoid a discussion of effect. If an attempt is made at evaluation, this is usually done in terms of the importance of the treaties as "standard setting". In this unit we will list the principal treaties and will then look at one in more detail. Beyond the International Bill of Human Rights are (together with their Protocols, if any) the following:

• Convention for the Prevention and Punishment of Genocide, 1948. Under this treaty genocide constitutes an international crime whether committed in times of war or peace. There is no independent enforcement mechanism

- Convention for the Suppression of Traffic in Persons and of theExploitation of the Prostitution of Others, 1950
- Convention on the Status of Refugees, 1951
- International Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Racial Discrimination, 1965
- International Convention on the Suppression of the Crime of Apartheid, 1973
- Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, 1979
- Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or DegradingTreatment or Punishment,1984
- Convention on the Rights of the Child, 1989
- International Convention on the Protection of the Rights of All Migrant Workers and Members of Their Families, 1990.

We will now look at the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women. In the words of the UN website http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/

The Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women adopted in 1979 by the UN General Assembly, is often described as an international bill of rights for women. Consisting of a preamble and 30 articles, it defines what constitutes discrimination against women and sets up an agenda for national action to end such discrimination.

The Convention defines discrimination against women as:

"...any distinction, exclusion or restriction made on the basis of sex which has the effect or purpose of impairing or nullifying the recognition, enjoyment or exercise by women, irrespective of their marital status, on a basis of equality of men and women, of human rights and fundamental freedoms in the political, economic, social, cultural, civil or any other field."

By accepting the Convention, States commit themselves to undertake a series of measures to end discrimination against women in all forms, including:

- to incorporate the principle of equality of men and women in their legal system, abolish all discriminatory laws and adopt appropriate ones prohibiting discrimination against women
- to establish tribunals and other public institutions to ensure the effective protection of women against discrimination
- to ensure elimination of all acts of discrimination against women by persons, organisations or enterprises.

The Convention provides the basis for realising equality between women and men through ensuring women's equal access to, and equal opportunities in, political and public life - including the right to vote and to stand for election - as well as education, health and employment. States parties agree to take all appropriate measures, includinglegislation and temporary special measures, so that women can enjoy all their human rights and fundamental freedoms.

The Convention is the only human rights treaty which affirms the reproductive rights of women and targets culture and tradition as influential forces shaping gender roles and family relations. It affirms women's rights to acquire, change or retain their nationality and the nationality of their children. States parties also agree to take appropriate measures against all forms of traffic in women and exploitation of women.

Countries that have ratified or acceded to the Convention are legally bound to put its provisions into practice. They are also committed to submit national reports, at least every four years, on measures they have taken to comply with their treaty obligations.

This Convention has now been ratified by more than 180 nations, which at first sight seems remarkable. It would seem that all of these nations are dedicated to the elimination of discrimination against women. Things are not, however, quite as they seem. Not only is the list of reservations remarkably extensive but many of the reservations seem scarcely compatible with the purposes of the Convention.

(See <u>http://www.un.org/womenwatch/daw/cedaw/reservations-</u> <u>country.htm</u> for all reservations and objections to those reservations.)

The stated position of the Committee charged with administering the Convention is one of concern:

The Convention permits ratification subject to reservations, provided that the reservations are not incompatible with the object and purpose of the Convention. Some States parties that enter reservations to the Convention do not enter reservations to analogous provisions in other human rights treaties. A number of States enter reservations to particular articles on the ground that national law, tradition, religion or culture are not congruent with Convention principles, and purport to justify the reservation on that basis. Some States enter a reservation to article 2, although their national constitutions or laws prohibit discrimination. There is therefore an inherent conflict between the provisions of the State's constitution and its reservation to the Convention. Some reservations are drawn so widely that their effect cannot be limited to specific provisions in the Convention.

Impermissible Reservations

Article 28, paragraph 2, of the Convention adopts the impermissibility principle contained in the Vienna Convention on the Law of Treaties. It states that a reservation incompatible with the object and purpose of the present Convention shall not be permitted.

Although the Convention does not prohibit the entering of reservations, those which challenge the central principles of the Convention are contrary to the provisions of the Convention and to general international law. As such they may be challenged by other States parties.

Articles 2 and 16 are considered by the Committee to be core provisions of the Convention. Although some States parties have withdrawn reservations to those articles, the Committee is particularly concerned at the number and extent of reservations entered to those articles.

The Committee holds the view that article 2 is central to the objects and purpose of the Convention, States parties which ratify the Convention do so because they agree that discrimination against women in all its forms should be condemned and that the strategies set out in article 2, subparagraphs (a) to (g), should be implemented by States parties to eliminate it.

Neither traditional, religious or cultural practice nor incompatible domestic laws and policies can justify violations of the Convention. The Committee also remains convinced that reservations to article 16, whether lodged for national, traditional, religious or cultural reasons, are incompatible with the Convention and therefore impermissible and should be reviewed and modified or withdrawn.

This position effectively illustrates both the strengths and weaknesses of such a treaty. The strength is that the Convention is an international statement that clearly accepts a goal and defines discrimination against women as unacceptable and increasingly incompatible with international law - treaty law for those states that are party to the treaty, and customary international law for others. The weakness once more concerns the 'enforcement' (state reports every four years reporting progress) and reservations of doubtful compatibility. States with a substantial Muslim population in particular have entered reservations against either or both Article 2 and/or Article 16 to the effect that shouldthere be a conflict, Shariah law must prevail. While this is unsurprising, as the Committee has observed, neither religious nor custom reasons can be allowed to effectively destroy the very purpose of the Convention.

In-Text Question 1

Consider the contribution (if any) of the decision to assert a right to development as a human right.

3.3.1 Regional Protection of Human Rights

By now you should appreciate the possibilities and limitations of the international protection of human rights - and indeed the difficulty of making any accurate assessment of the contribution made by conventions or treaties. A cost-benefit analysis would be grippinglyinteresting but almost impossible to achieve. Henry Ford is supposed to have observed that he knew 90 per cent of his advertising budget was wasted, but the problem was that he was unable to discover which 10per cent was effective. When it comes to the international protection of human rights the picture is even less clear. It is obvious that at the least there is a standard setting process with some provisions achieving a *jus cogens* status in international law, but the effect of the standard setting process is unquantifiable.

Problems of enforcement at the world level led to attempts to provide regional protection. It was anticipated that a higher degree of homogeneity amongst the participating states would make enforcement less controversial. It was in Europe that the impetus for such regional protection was at its greatest, primarily as a reaction to the war that had had to be fought against fascist totalitarian states. In the words of the most famous historian of the development of post-war human rights- A.

W.B. Simpson- 'The idea that there was a link between the protection of human rightsand the preservation of peace was to become a common feature of post- war thinking...' Thus, it came about that whereas before the Second World War there was virtually no public interest in the international protection of human rights, except in relation to European minorityprotection, by 1944, and even earlier, there was a widespread interest in the subject, and a growing belief that the protection of human rights against oppressive governments should be embodied in a new world order which needed to be established to establish not only security through a lasting peace, but also a just world in which governmental misconduct would be brought under the control of the international community... The idea that the war had been about the protection of the rights of individuals, originally little more than a rhetorical adornment, was coming home to roost. [Simpson, A. Human Rights and the End of Empire]. As we have seen, progress in the drafting of the International Covenants was not rapid and this also gave impetus to regional provision.

3.3.2 The European Convention on Human Rights

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: *The International Protection of Human Rights*, pp.289-98.

Cassese, Chapter 19: The Protection of Human Rights, pp.389-91.

European Convention on Human Rights

The European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) was drafted by the Council of Europe and opened for signature in November 1950. It entered into force after 10 ratifications in 1953. There are currently 47 state parties with a combined population in excess of 800 million, each with the right of individual petition. Such an increase has more thanbeen reflected in the number of applications. Whereas the number of cases registered with the Court in Strasbourg in 1981 was 407, by 1997 this had risen to 4,750, and in 2004, 44,100 new cases were lodged. It is said that in 2004 applications were lodged at a rate of 1,000 per month more than the Court could deal with. There were 82,100 cases pending on 1 October 2005, and this was projected to grow to 250,000 by 2010. Such was the backlog that in 2004, some 2,000 applications had been pending for more than five years. (SeeWoolf et al. Review of the working methods of the European Court (December of Human Rights 2005) athttp://www.echr.coeint/Eng/Press/2005/Dec/lordwoolfsreviewon workingmethods2. pdf).

These changes are remarkable and of course many of them have resulted from the influx of new states since the major enlargement of the Council of Europe when countries of the former Soviet Bloc acceded to the Convention. As the Review observes, whereas the Court was originally primarily concerned to fine tune "well-established and well-functioning" democracies, it is now "working to consolidate democracy and the rule of law in new and relatively fragile democracies". In the first ninemonths of 2005 more than half of pending cases were from just four countries (the Russian Federation, 17 per cent; Turkey, 13 per cent; Romania, 12 per cent; and Poland, 11 per cent).

It is therefore crucial to appreciate that the ECHR is currently very different from what it used to be. When it was drafted it was based to a great extent upon the civil and political rights found in the UDHR. Of course because this was a legal document the wording had to be much

more careful, and when you read the ECHR you will at once notice that almost every right is immediately heavily qualified and significantly less absolute than in the Declaration.

In-Text Question 2

Examine and explain the differences between the substantive provisions concerning civil and political rights in the UDHR and the ECHR.

The history of the ECHR is well and briefly described on its website, http://www.echr.coe.int/echr

In addition to laying down a catalogue of civil and political rights and freedoms, the Convention set up a mechanism for the enforcement of the obligations entered into by Contracting States. Three institutions were entrusted with this responsibility: the European Commission of Human Rights (set up in 1954), the European Court of Human Rights (set up in 1959) and the Committee of Ministers of the Council of Europe, the latter organ being composed of the Ministers of Foreign Affairs of the member States or their representatives.

Under the Convention in its original version, complaints could be brought against Contracting States either by other Contracting States or by individual applicants (individuals, groups of individuals or nongovernmental organisations). Recognition of the right of individual application was, however, optional and it could therefore be exercised only against those States which had accepted it (Protocol No. 11 to the Convention [which came into force in 1998] was subsequently to make its acceptance compulsory).

The complaints were first the subject of a preliminary examination by the Commission, which determined their admissibility. Where an application was declared admissible, the Commission placed itself at the parties' disposal with a view to brokering a friendly settlement. If no settlement was forthcoming, it drew up a report establishing the factsand expressing an opinion on the merits of the case. The report was transmitted to the Committee of Ministers.

Where the respondent State had accepted the compulsory jurisdiction of the Court, the Commission and/or any Contracting State concerned had a period of three months following the transmission of the report to the Committee of Ministers within which to bring the case before the Court for a final, binding adjudication. Individuals were not entitled to bring their cases before the Court. If a case was not referred to the Court, the Committee of Ministers decided whether there had been a violation of the Convention and, if appropriate, awarded "just satisfaction" to the victim. The Committee of Ministers also had responsibility for supervising the execution of the Court's judgments.

Since then there have been significant developments. Since the Convention's entry into force thirteen Protocols have been adopted. Protocols Nos. 1, 4, 6, 7, 12 and 13 added further rights and liberties to those guaranteed by the Convention, while Protocol No.2 conferred on the Court the power to give advisory opinions. Protocol No.9 enabled individual applicants to bring their cases before the Court subject to ratification by the respondent State and acceptance by a screening panel. Protocol No. 11 restructured the enforcement machinery (see below). The remaining Protocols concerned the organisation of and procedure before the Convention institutions.

From 1980 onwards, the steady growth in the number of cases brought before the Convention institutions made it increasingly difficult to keep the length of proceedings within acceptable limits. The problem was aggravated by the accession of new Contracting States from 1990. The number of applications registered annually with the Commission increased from 404 in 1981 to 4,750 in 1997. By that year, the number of unregistered or provisional files opened each year in the Commission had risen to over 12,000. The Court's statistics reflected a similar story, with the number of cases referred annually rising from 7 in 1981 to 119 in 1997.

The increasing case-load prompted a lengthy debate on the necessity for a reform of the Convention supervisory machinery, resulting in the adoption of Protocol No. 11 to the Convention. The aim was to simplify the structure with a view to shortening the length of proceedings while strengthening the judicial character of the system by making it fully compulsory and abolishing the Committee of Ministers' adjudicativerole.

Protocol No. 11, which came into force on 1 November 1998, replaced the existing, part-time Court and Commission by a single, full-timeCourt. For a transitional period of one year (until 31 October 1999) the Commission continued to deal with the cases which it had previously declared admissible.

During the three years which followed the entry into force of Protocol No. 11 the Court's case-load grew at an unprecedented rate. The number of applications registered rose from 5,979 in 1998 to 13,858 in 2001, an increase of approximately 130%. Concerns about the Court's capacity to deal with the growing volume of cases led to requests for additional resources and speculation about the need for further reform.

A Ministerial Conference on Human Rights, held in Rome on 3 and 4 November 2000 to mark the 50th anniversary of the opening of the Convention for signature, had initiated a process of reflection on reform of the system. In November 2002, as a follow-up to a Ministerial Declaration on "the Court of Human Rights for Europe", the Ministers' Deputies issued terms of reference to the Steering Committee for Human Rights (CDDH) to draw up a set of concrete and coherent proposals covering measures that could be implemented without delay and possible amendments to the Convention.

Since then another Protocol (Protocol 14) has been drafted and signed by all members except the Russian Federation. By July 2005, 13 states had ratified the Protocol, which was considered essential for the survivalof the Convention. In essence it provides firstly that a single judge can decide on a case's admissibility. (There is the same number of judges as states (47).) Until this enters into force, three judges decide. Secondly, it provides that where cases are broadly similar to ones brought previously before the Court, and are essentially due to a member state failing to change their domestic law to correct a failing highlighted by that previous judgment, admissibility can be decided by three judges rather than the seven-judge Chamber.

Thirdly, a case may not be admissible if it is considered that the applicant has not suffered "significant disadvantage". However, this is not a "hard and fast" rule. Fourthly, a member state can be brought before the Court by the Committee of Ministers if that state refuses to enforce a judgment against it. Finally, the Committee of Ministers can ask the Court for an 'interpretation' of a judgment to help determine the best way for a member state to comply with it.

In summary, it may be said that the ECHR is undoubtedly the most successful regional system for the protection of human rights yet devised. Until the 1990s it had sat in a role that approached a supreme constitutional court interpreting civil liberties protection. It is now in danger of being paralysed by its own success and even further measures would seem necessary if it is to continue in its present form.

Self-Assessment Exercise 1

'The ECHR is a victim of its own success. Its original strength came from the relative homogeneity of the political ideology of its members. This no longer exists and the ECHR is coming to suffer from the same defects as the International Bill of Human Rights." Discuss. (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

3.3.3 The Inter-American System of Human Rights Protection

Essential Reading

Kaczorowska, Chapter 12: International Protection of Human Rights, pp.283-87.

Cassese, Chapter 19: The Protection of Human Rights, p.391.

The primary aim of this brief appraisal of the inter-American system for the protection of human rights is to enable a comparison with the ECHR. From the readings above you will see that opinions on the inter-American system are polarised. Kaczorowska regards it as "very disappointing" (p.287) while Cassese is much more positive.

There are two inter-American bodies concerned with the protection and enforcement of human rights: the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) (ironically with its headquarters inWashington, DC) and the Inter-American Court of Human Rights, located in Costa Rica. The most important documents for this system are the Charter of the Organisation of American States (OAS) and the Inter- American Convention of Human Rights, 1969. Neither the USA nor Canada is a party to the Convention.

The IACHR was created by the CAS in 1959 as an autonomous organ to ensure respect for human rights. As Kaczorowska observes, its first investigation was of Castro's Cuba and resulted in Cuban expulsion from the CAS, but it made no such "progress" with other member states notwithstanding the appearance of a number of military dictatorships with utterly deplorable human rights records. It was not difficult to see the hand of the US Central Intelligence Agency in the impotence of the IACHR. It imposed no sanctions and could merely make a declaration to the effect that a state was in breach of the (non-binding) American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man, 1948.

When the Convention was adopted the IACHR continued its role for the CAS but took on new tasks too. The Commission:

- Receives, analyses and investigates individual petitions which allege human rights violations, pursuant to Articles 44 to 51 of the Convention.
- Observes the general human rights situation in the member States and publishes special reports regarding the situation in a specific State, when it considers it appropriate.
- Carries out on-site visits to countries to engage in more in-depth analysis of the general situation and/or to investigate a specific situation. These visits usually result in the preparation of a report regarding the human rights situation observed, which is published and sent to the General Assembly.
- Stimulates public consciousness regarding human rights in the Americas. To that end, carries out and publishes studies on specific subjects, such as: measures to be taken to ensure greater independence of the judiciary; the activities of irregular armed groups; the human rights situation of minors and women; and the human rights of indigenous peoples.
- Organises and carries out conferences, seminars and meetings with representatives of Governments, academic institutions, non-governmental groups, etc...in order to disseminate information and to increase knowledge regarding issues relatingto the inter-American human rights system.
- Recommends to the member States of the OAS the adoption of measures which would contribute to human rights protection.
- Requests States to adopt specific "precautionary measures" to avoid serious and irreparable harm to human rights in urgent cases. The Commission may also request that the Court order "provisional measures" in urgent cases which involve danger to persons, even where a case has not yet been submitted to the Court.
- Submits cases to the Inter-American Court and appears before the Court in the litigation of cases.
- Requests advisory opinions from the Inter-American Court regarding questions of interpretation of the American Convention.

The Commission receives individual petitions against member states of the CAS. If the member is not a party to the Convention, the Commission will judge the matter under the Declaration, but of course cannot give a binding decision. If the member is a party to the Convention then, if there is no amicable settlement, the Commission may refer the matter to the Inter-American Court of Human Rights. Individuals do not have a right of access to the Court. Both inter-state and individual cases can be heard by the Court only if contracting states have made a general or specific agreement that this will happen. In the event of an adverse judgment there is no means of enforcement.

Thus it may be seen that inter-American regional protection of human rights leaves much to be desired. Indeed, there is no surrender of sovereignty that in any way equates with the European system. It has certainly not developed comparably and although the right of individual petition is important, there does not seem to have been a major change in the quality of human rights protection offered within states as a result of the Declaration or Convention.

Self-Assessment Exercise 2

"Experience suggests that while regional systems for the protection of human rights are essential, it has to be realised that they can at best be supplementary to domestic state protection. Current European and American experience confirms this view." Discuss. (See *Feedback at the end of this unit*).

In conclusion, the UN has been highly successful in drafting international humanrights treaties. Genocide, torture, racism and apartheid are all now clearly proscribed in international law. In other areas, however, it is harder to judge the contribution of human rights treaties to the protection of human rights. While almost all states are prepared to support a document aimed at the elimination of discrimination against women, the true intentions are inferable from the reservations entered.

3.4 Summary

The ECHR has been a remarkably successful Convention in effectively guaranteeing fundamental civil and political rights. But whereas it proved competent in this, the influx of members with diverse histories and ideological outlooks has led to an unmanageable case load that will necessarily affect the jurisprudence of the Court. The ECHR reflects the European view that civil and political rights are justifiable in a way that economic, social and cultural rights are not.

The inter-American system for the protection of human rights has not been a notable success. It is much less intrusive into national sovereignty than it needs to be in order to be effective. US and Canadianparticipation has not been substantial. It could be argued that its emphasis has been upon human rights promotion, but the system has lived in remarkable harmony with abusive military dictatorships. Inaddition, to have singled out Cuba as the only member of the OAS worthy of suspension for its human rights abuses seems perverse in the extreme.

3.5 References/Further Reading/Web Sources

Simpson, A. (2001). Human Rights and the End of Empire. Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199267898] pp.219-20.

- Dixon, M. (2005). Textbook on International Law (5th ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199260729].
- Cassese, A. (2005). International Law (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press [ISBN 0199259399].

3.6 Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise 1

This statement is probably unfortunately true. Nevertheless the homogeneity of the original states ratifying the ECHR should not be overemphasised. Probably what most of them did share however was a functioning domestic court system that enjoyed a fair measure of support from citizens. This cannot be said of many of the new entrants into the Council of Europe. Instead, so diverse are the ethnic, language and ideological heritages that it is immensely difficult for any international court to be both empathetic to difference but consistent in human rights rulings. It may be that in due course the 46 nations will have to form regional alliances with human rights courts answerable to Strasbourg.

Possible Answers to Self-Assessment Exercise 2

It is becoming increasingly clear that the European Court of Human Rights will not be able to cope with the level of communications it faces at present. Historically the number of petitions was restricted in that not every state granted the right of individual petition and also the Court had made it clear that it would not generally review the decision of a domestic court where that court had sought in good faith to apply the provisions of the Convention. Such an attitude to domestic courts is no longer reasonable given the very poor records of some states newly accepted as members of the Council of Europe. It is probable that one reason for the much more restricted role of the Inter-American Court is that many domestic courts in Central and South America have no consistent record of defending civil liberties and the rule of law.

Kaczorowska, A. (2005). Public International Law (3rd ed). London: Old Bailey Press [ISBN 185836607